
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Small Business Regulatory Review Board Meeting 

February 17, 2022 

10:00 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 
 

 

Department of Business, Economic Development & Tourism (DBEDT)                                Tel: 808 798-0737 
No. 1 Capitol District Building, 250 S. Hotel Street, Fifth Floor, Honolulu, HI  96813                  
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 2359, Honolulu, HI  96804 
Email: dbedt.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov  
Website: sbrrb.hawaii.gov  

 
             

 
 

David Y. Ige 
Governor 

 
Mike McCartney 
DBEDT Director 

 
Members 

 

Robert Cundiff 
Chairperson 

O‘ahu 
 

Mary Albitz 
Vice Chairperson 

Maui 
 

Jonathan Shick 
2nd Vice Chairperson 

O‘ahu 
 

Dr. Nancy Atmospera-
Walch 
O‘ahu 

 
William Lydgate 

Kaua’i 
 

James (Kimo) Lee 
Hawai’i 

 
Garth Yamanaka 

           Hawai’i 
 

Taryn Rodighiero 
             Kaua’i 

 
Mark Ritchie for  
Director, DBEDT 
Voting Ex Officio 

 

          AGENDA 
 Thursday, February 17, 2022  10:00 a.m. 

Honolulu, HI  96813 
 

As authorized under Act 220, Session Laws of Hawaii 2021, Section 92-
3.7, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS), and the Governor’s January 27, 2022 

Emergency Proclamation Related to COVID-19 (Omicron Variant), the 
meetings will be held remotely with Board Members, Staff, and Agencies 
participating via online meeting venue.  The public can participate in the 
meeting via video-audio livestream, or telephonically; to join the meeting 

go to: 
  

                        https://zoom.us/j/3082191379  or  
 

Dial 1-669-900-6833 with Meeting ID 883 5814 0200 
  

When the Chairperson asks for public testimony during the meeting, you may 
indicate that you want to provide oral testimony by using the raise hand function 

or, if calling in by telephone, entering * and 9 on your phone keypad.  When 
recognized by the Chairperson, you will be unmuted.  If calling in by phone, you 

can unmute and mute yourself by pressing * and 6 on your keypad.  
 

Members of the public may submit written testimony via e-mail to: 
DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov or mailed to SBRRB, No. 1 Capitol 

District Building, 250 S. Hotel Street, Room 506A, Honolulu, HI  96813, or 
P.O. Box 2359, Honolulu, HI 96804.  All written testimony should be 

received no later than 4:30 p.m., Wednesday, February 16, 2022.    
 

Copies of the Board Packet will be available on-line for review at: 
Agendas & Minutes – Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

(hawaii.gov). An electronic draft of the minutes for this meeting will also 
be made available at the same location when completed. 

 
The Board may go into Executive Session under  

Section 92-5 (a)(4), HRS to Consult with the Board’s Attorney on 
Questions and Issues Concerning the Board’s Powers, Duties, Immunities, 

Privileges and Liabilities. 
 

I. Call to Order 
  

II. Approval of January 20, 2022 Meeting Minutes 
 
 
 
 
 

https://zoom.us/j/3082191379
mailto:DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov


Small Business Regulatory Review Board – February 17, 2022 
Page 2 

 
III. New Business – Before Public Hearing 

 
A. Discussion and Action on Proposed New Hawaii Administrative Rules 

(HAR) to Title 12 Chapter 43, Rules of Practice and Procedure Before 
the Hawaii Labor Relations Board, promulgated by Hawaii Labor 
Relations Board, Department of Labor and Industrial Relations – 
Discussion Leader – Vice Chair Mary Albitz 
 

IV. Administrative Matters 
 

A. Update on the Status of the Board’s Proposed Phase II Website Project 
 

B. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs 
in accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS  

 
V. Legislative Matters 

 
A. Discussion and Action on the Upcoming Governor’s Message 

Submitted for Consideration for the Gubernatorial Nomination of 
William Lydgate to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board to 
expire June 30, 2026 

 
VI. Next Meeting:  Thursday, March 10, 2022 at 10:00 a.m. 

 
VII. Adjournment 

 
If you require special assistance or auxiliary aid and/or services to 

participate in the public hearing process, please call (808) 798-0737 or 
email dbedt.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov at least three (3) business days 

prior to the meeting so arrangements can be made. 
 
 
 

 

mailto:dbedt.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov


II. Approval of January 20, 2022 Meeting 
 Minutes



1 
 

    Approved: ______________________________ 

 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

 
MEETING MINUTES - DRAFT 
January 20, 2022 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER:  Chair Cundiff called the meeting to order at 10:04 a.m., with a 
quorum present, which was open to the public.    

STAFF: DBEDT                    Office of the Attorney General 
    Dori Palcovich 
 Jet’aime Ariola 

      Jennifer Waihee-Polk  

  

II. APPROVAL OF December 9, 2021 MINUTES 
 
Mr. Ritchie motioned to accept the December 9, 2021 meeting minutes, as amended, due to 
modifications to correct sub-section formatting in Section III. A.  Vice Chair Albitz seconded 
the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.    
 
III. NEW BUSINESS – Before Public Hearing 

 
A. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 16 Chapter 116, 

Travel Agencies, promulgated by Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs 
(DCCA) 

 
Discussion leader Ms. Atmospera-Walch asked Ms. Sandra Matsushima, Executive Officer at 
DCCA’s Professional and Vocational Licensing Division, to brief the members on the subject 
proposal.   
 
Ms. Matsushima explained that the rule changes include clarifying and formalizing current 
program practices, requiring a separate registration of a branch office, establishing a separate 
client trust account, adding a new section to allow a charter tour operator to hold a client trust 
account in a federally insured financial institution located out-of-state, and amendments to the 
fee schedule. 
 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 Robert Cundiff, Chair 
 Mary Albitz, Vice Chair 
 Jonathan Shick, 2nd Vice Chair 
 Garth Yamanaka 
 Dr. Nancy Atmospera-Walch 
 James (Kimo) Lee 
 Taryn Rodighiero  
 Mark Ritchie 
 

       
ABSENT MEMBERS: 
 William Lydgate 

 
 
 

 



 

2 
 

There were no concerns or questions from the public or from small businesses; and no 
adverse financial impacts are expected from the rule changes.  Regarding the lack of backing 
of the trust accounts from local financial affiliates, Ms. Matsushima stated that this is an 
administrative issue that is connected to the regulatory requirements that local banks have 
been reluctant to assist with and manage. 
 
Testifier Mr. Bill Smith, Vice President and General Manager of Vacations Hawaii, who 
submitted testimony in support of the rule changes, stated that his business has been in 
operation for 70 years.  When the company first began doing charters, everything was fine.  
However, subsequently the Department of Transportation (DOT) has placed many more 
restrictions on charters.  For example, for banks to be able to hold monies from the charter 
trips, they are required to receive passenger lists and release each form per passenger.  
Local banks simply do not have the ability to complete and manage the required regulatory 
reports; as such, it has become very difficult for local banks to work with the charters. 
 
Mr. Smith added that previously an outside mainland service was hired to do the reporting 
and releasing of the charter reports to DOT, to the banks and to Vacations Hawaii but it has 
proven to be a lengthy, cumbersome process. 
 
Ms. Atmospera-Walch motioned to move the proposed amendments forward to public 
hearing.  Ms. Rodighiero seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

 
B. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 16 Chapter 115, 

Professional Engineers, Architects, Surveyors, and Landscape Architects, 
promulgated by DCCA 

 
Ms. Sandra Matsushima, Executive Officer at DCCA’s Professional and Vocational Licensing 
Division, summarized the proposed amendments which include two new engineering 
practices for professional licenses; they are for environmental engineers and fire protection 
engineers.  The amendments also include adding new sections to specify the certified 
educational requirements for architects pursuant to the statutes. 
 
Ms. Matsushima added that the proposal is anticipated to have no adverse effects on 
businesses or to have any additional direct costs for businesses to bear.  In addition, there 
was considerable support and a sense of urgency from small businesses for the changes to 
occur. 
 
Both Chair Cundiff and Second Vice Chair Shick noted that it was very prudent to add 
environmental and fire protection engineers into the rules as it will likely open up opportunities 
for new small businesses to focus on specific disciplines.  
 
Ms. Atmospera-Walsh motioned to move the proposed amendments forward to public 
hearing.  Second Vice Chair Shick seconded the motion, and the Board members 
unanimously agreed. 
 
 
 

 



 

3 
 

IV. OLD BUSINESS – After Public Hearing 
 

A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and 
Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 3 Chapter 40, Rules Governing Public Use of 
the Land Survey Division Maps, Descriptions, and Records, and Schedule of Fees 
for Services Maps, and Other Record Data, promulgated by Department of 
Accounting and General Services (DAGS)  

 
Discussion leader Mr. Ritchie reminded the members that the pre-public hearing for the 
proposed rule amendments occurred last year, which included updating and cleaning up of 
the rules; there is one small business impact that raises the mail service fees from $10 to 
$15 per hour.  
 
Mr. Meyer Cummins, Land Boundary Surveyor at DAGS, explained that no one showed up 
at the public hearing and no written comments were received.  He noted that the small 
increase in the fees will not go back to DAGS’s internal funds but will go into the general 
funds.  He also noted that DAGS attempts, as much as possible, to help mitigate the costs to 
the small business professionals.   
 
Mr. Yamanaka surmised that increasing the fees in the rules may help prompt DAGS to 
review the fees on a more regular basis rather than waiting 20 to 30 years.  Mr. Cummins 
appreciated Mr. Yamanaka’s suggestion and stated that a template has been created to help 
staff members in the future to move forward more easily with any fee changes.  

 
Mr. Ritchie motioned to move the proposed rule amendments, after the public hearing, to the 
Governor for approval.  Vice Chair Albitz seconded the motion, and the Board members 
unanimously agreed. 

 
V. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 

 
A. Discussion and Action on the Board’s Investigative Taskforce’s Resulting Findings 

Deliberation and Decision-Making” on the Proposed Phase II Website, in 
accordance with Section 92-2.5(b)(1)(C), Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) 

 
Chair Cundiff motioned to accept the Board’s investigative taskforce’s resulting findings for 
deliberation and decision-making on the proposed Phase II website project from NIC Hawaii, 
and that Mr. Mark Ritchie represent the Board at a meeting held on  
February 3, 2022 with the Access Hawaii Committee; Second Vice Chair Shick seconded the 
motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

 
B. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in 

accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS 
 

Chair Cundiff mentioned that due to the pandemic, DBEDT staff is performing more outreach 
on Facebook and other media venues in an attempt to drive businesses to the Board’s 
website. 
 



 

4 
 

It was requested that DBEDT staff re-send to the members the Agency/Discussion Leader 
Listing showing contact information and which agencies each board member is assigned to. 
 
Chair Cundiff recognized Mr. Marcus Oshiro, Chairperson and Representative of the Public 
to the Hawaii Labor Relations Board (HLRB), during the meeting.  Mr. Oshiro has been 
attending the Board meetings for observation and educational purposes due to HLRB 
presenting administrative rule changes at the February board meeting.  Further, Mr. Oshiro 
has been extremely supportive of this Board’s process, and he has done a great deal of 
outreach to the community. 
 
VI. LEGISLATIVE MATTERS 

   
A. Discussion and Action on the Upcoming Governor’s Message Submitted for 

Consideration for the Gubernatorial Nomination of James (Kimo) Lee to the Small 
Business Regulatory Review Board to expire June 30, 2024 

 
Chair Cundiff motioned to provide testimony in support of Mr. Lee’s upcoming nomination to 
the Small Business Regulatory Review Board.  Mr. Ritchie seconded the motion, Mr. Lee 
abstained, and the remaining Board members agreed. 
 
VII. NEXT MEETING - Thursday, February 17, 2022 at 10:00 a.m. 

 
VIII. ADJOURNMENT – Second Vice Chair Shick motioned to adjourn the meeting and 

Ms. Atmospera-Walch seconded the motion; the meeting adjourned at 10:57 a.m.                



 
 

 
 
 
III. New Business – Before Public Hearing 

A.   Discussion and Action on Proposed  
 New HAR Title 12 Chapter 43, Rules of 
 Practice and Procedure Before the 
 Labor Relations Board, promulgated by 
 Hawaii Labor Relations Board, Department 
 of Labor and Industrial Relations  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 

 
  

 

   

 

  

  

  

  
     

   
 

  

  

 
    

 
  

  

                     
      

 

 
      

             

  
 

  
    

      

   

  
   

   

PRE-PUBLIC HEARING SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 
TO THE 

SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 
(Hawaii Revised Statutes §201M-2) 

Date: 

Department or Agency: 

Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: 

Chapter Name: 

Contact Person/Title: 

E-mail: Phone: 

A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92-7, please attach 
a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general description of the subjects involved. 

B. Are the draft rules available for viewing in person and on the Lieutenant Governor’s Website 
pursuant to HRS §92-7? 

Yes No 

If “Yes,” provide details: 

I. Rule Description: 
New Repeal Amendment Compilation 

II. Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? 
Yes No 

(If “No,” no need to submit this form.) 

* “Affect small business” is defined as “any potential or actual requirement imposed upon a small business . . . that will cause a 
direct and significant economic burden upon a small business, or is directly related to the formation, operation, or expansion 
of a small business.” HRS §201M-1 

* “Small business” is defined as a “for-profit corporation, limited liability company, partnership, limited partnership, sole 
proprietorship, or other legal entity that: (1) Is domiciled and authorized to do business in Hawaii; (2) Is independently owned 
and operated; and (3) Employs fewer than one hundred full-time or part- time employees in Hawaii." HRS §201M-1 

III. Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that 
does not require the agency to interpret or describe the requirements of the 
statute or ordinance? 

Yes No 
(If “Yes” no need to submit this form. E.g., a federally-mandated regulation that does not afford the 
agency thediscretion to consider less restrictive alternatives. HRS §201M-2(d)) 

IV. Is the proposed rule being adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? (HRS §201M-2(a)) 

Yes No 
(If “Yes” no need to submit this form.) 

* * * 

Revised 09/28/2018 

AriolaJK
Received



       

 
 

    
 

    
  

   

   

  

  

    

  

  
   

 

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 2 

If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, 
please provide a reasonable determination of the following: 

1. Description of the small businesses that will be required to comply with the proposed rules 
and how they may be adversely affected. 

2. In dollar amounts, the increase in the level of direct costs such as fees or fines, and indirect 
costs such as reporting, recordkeeping, equipment, construction, labor, professional 
services, revenue loss, or other costs associated with compliance. 

If the proposed rule imposes a new or increased fee or fine: 

a. Amount of the current fee or fine and the last time it was increased. 

b. Amount of the proposed fee or fine and the percentage increase. 

c. Reason for the new or increased fee or fine. 

d. Criteria or methodology used to determine the amount of the fee or fine (i.e., 

Consumer Price Index, Inflation rate, etc.). 

3. The probable monetary costs and benefits to the agency or other agencies directly affected, 
including the estimated total amount the agency expects to collect from any additionally 
imposed fees and the manner in which the moneys will be used. 

Revised 09/28/2018 



       

  
 

  

 
  

   
  

 

 
 

 

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 3 

4. The methods the agency considered or used to reduce the impact on small business 
such as consolidation, simplification, differing compliance or reporting requirements, 
less stringent deadlines, modification of the fines schedule, performance rather than 
design standards, exemption, or other mitigating techniques. 

5. The availability and practicability of less restrictive alternatives that could be 
implemented in lieu of the proposed rules. 

6. Consideration of creative, innovative, or flexible methods of compliance for small 
businesses. The businesses that will be directly affected by, bear the costs of, or 
directly benefit from the proposed rules. 

7. How the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed rules. 

a. If there were any recommendations made by small business, were the 
recommendations incorporated into the proposed rule? If yes, explain. If no, 
why not. 

Revised 09/28/2018 



       

 

  

   
      

    

  
    

 
 

   
 

  
  

 

 

   
   

      

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 4 

8. Whether the proposed rules include provisions that are more stringent than those 
mandated by any comparable or related federal, state, or county standards, with an 
explanation of the reason for imposing the more stringent standard. 

If yes, please provide information comparing the costs and benefits of the proposed rules to 
the costs and benefits of the comparable federal, state, or county law, including the following: 

a. Description of the public purposes to be served by the proposed rule. 

b. The text of the related federal, state, or county law, including information about 
the purposes and applicability of the law. 

c. A comparison between the proposed rule and the related federal, state, or 
county law, including a comparison of their purposes, application, and 
administration. 

d. A comparison of the monetary costs and benefits of the proposed rule with the 
costs and benefits of imposing or deferring to the related federal, state, or 
county law, as well as a description of the manner in which any additional fees 
from the proposed rule will be used. 

e. A comparison of the adverse effects on small business imposed by the 
proposed rule with the adverse effects of the related federal, state, or county 
law. 

* * * 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board / DBEDT 
Phone: (808) 586-2594 / Email: DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov 

This Statement may be found on the SBRRB Website at: http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/resources/small- business-impact-statements 

Revised 09/28/2018 

http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/resources/small-business-impact-statements
mailto:DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov


Attachment to Pre-Public  Hearing Small Business Impact Statement to the Small Business 
Regulatory Review Board - Hawaii Labor Relations Board 

 

Page 1 

A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS Section 
92-7, please attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general 
description of the subjects involved.  

 
The proposed Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR) Chapter 43 govern practice and 
procedure in proceedings before the Hawaii Labor Relations Board (HLRB) pursuant to 
Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) Chapters 89, 377, and 396.  HAR Chapters 41 and 42, 
which previously governed such practice and procedure, are being repealed.   Please 
see Attachment “A.” 
 

B. Are the draft rules available for viewing in person and on the Lieutenant Governor’s Website 
pursuant to HRS Section 92-7? 

 
Yes [  ]  No [X]     The proposed HAR Chapter 43 is currently available to the general 

public at https://labor.hawaii.gov/hlrb/proposed-rules-chapter-43-
october-2021/ and  for viewing in person at the HLRB office. The 
proposed rules will be filed with the lieutenant governor’s office 
pursuant to HRS § 91.2.6. The HLRB will follow HRS § 91-3, “Procedure 
for adoption, amendment, or repeal of rules.”  

II. Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business?   
 

[X] Yes              [  ]No      Please see Attachment “B.” 
 

Page 3 

7.  How the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed rules.  
 
HLRB involved small business in the development of the proposed HAR Chapter 43 
draft by posting the draft on its website prior to the formal public hearing under HRS 
Chapter 91.  HLRB requested comment from the following entities that may be 
covered under HRS Chapters 89, 377, or 396 and thus may be considered 
“stakeholders”:  
 
The Chamber of Commerce of Hawaii, Hawaii Restaurant Association, Retail 
Merchants of Hawaii, Hawaii Small Business Development Center (UH-Hilo), Hawaii 
Business Roundtable, Hawaii Building & Construction Trades Council, HGEA, UPW, 
HSTA, UHPA, SHOPO, HFFA, ILWU. Hawaii Nurses’ Association, Hawaii Employers 
Council, Hawaii Regional Council of Carpenters, Drywall Tapers, Finishers Local 

https://labor.hawaii.gov/hlrb/proposed-rules-chapter-43-october-2021/
https://labor.hawaii.gov/hlrb/proposed-rules-chapter-43-october-2021/
AriolaJK
Received



Union, International Brotherhood of Boilermakers, Local 627, Hawaii Association of 
Electrical Workers, International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local 1186, 
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local 1260, International 
Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local 1357, Iron Workers, Local 625, United Food 
and Commercial Workers International Union, Local 480, Glaziers, Architectural 
Metal & Glass Workers Local 1886, UNITE HERE, Local 5, Laborers’ International 
Union of North America, Local 368, Operating Engineers, Local 3, International Union 
of Painters and Allied Trades (IUPAT), AFL-CIO, United Association of Journeymen 
and Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipe Fitting Industry of the United States and 
Canada, Local 675, Hawaii Printing & Graphic Communications Union, Local 413-N, 
Roofers, Waterproofers & Allied Workers, Local 221, Screen Actors Guild – American 
Federation of Television & Radio Artists, International Association of Sheet Metal, 
Air, Rail, & Transportation Workers, Local 239, Hawaii Teamsters and Allied Workers, 
Local 996, General Contractors Association of Hawaii, Building Industry Association 
of Hawaii, Kauai Chamber of Commerce, Maui Chamber of Commerce, Hawaii Island 
Chamber of Commerce, Hawaii State Bar Association, Small Business Administration, 
American Society of Safety Professionals, Hawaii Chapter, International Union of 
Bricklayers & Allied Craftsmen, Local 1, District Council 50, International Association 
Sheet Metal Workers, Local 293, International Union of Elevator Constructors, Local 
126, Roofers, Waterproofers and Allied United Union of Roofers, Waterproofers and 
Allied Workers, Local 221, International Brotherhood of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, 
Warehousemen and Helpers of America, Local 996, Masons’ Local 630, International 
Alliance of Theatrical Stage Employees, Local 665, Musicians’ Association of Hawaii, 
AFM Local 677, Lanai Chamber of Commerce, Kona-Kohala Chamber of Commerce, 
Molokai Chamber of Commerce, Hawaii Printing & Graphic Local 413, and the 
International Union of Painters and Allied Trades. 

 

 



ATTACHMENT “A” (HLRB Small Business Impact Statement, part A) 
 
The Hawaii Labor Relations Board (HLRB) is an agency within the Hawaii Department of 
Industrial Relations (DLIR).   
 
The HLRB is a quasi-judicial body overseeing Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) Chapters 89 and 
377 disputes.  The HLRB adjudicates disputes between public employers, unions, and employees 
involving Chapter 89 claims, and adjudicates disputes that arise between certain private sector 
employers, unions, and employees involving Chapter 377 claims. 
 
Under HRS Chapter 396, the HLRB conducts de novo hearings on contests of citations issued by 
the DLIR Director through the Hawaii Occupational Safety and Health Division (HIOSH) and 
adjudicates appeals from HIOSH rulings in discrimination complaints involving retaliation for 
the reporting of safety and health violations. 
 
Under the current rules of practice and procedure before the HLRB, all parties are required to 
comply with the provisions of Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR) Chapters 41 and 42, 
including small businesses appearing before the HLRB.   
 
The Hawaii Employment Relations Act was enacted by the legislature in 1945 and codified as 
HRS Chapter 377.  The HLRB’s predecessor, Hawaii Employment Relations Board (HERB), 
was created to administer the Act.  HAR Chapter 41, the current administrative rules governing 
proceedings under Chapter 377, was adopted in 1983, and has not been amended since that time.   
 
In 1970, the Hawaii Public Employment Relations Board (HPERB), also the predecessor of the 
HLRB, was created by the legislature and codified in HRS Chapter 89.  The provisions of HAR 
Chapter 42, governing proceedings before the HPERB under HRS Chapter 89, became effective 
in 1981, and have not been amended since that time. 
 
In 1985, the Legislature abolished HERB, transferred its functions to HPERB and renamed it the 
Hawaii Labor Relations Board, effective January 1, 1986, to administer the provisions of both 
HRS Chapters 89 and 377. 
 
In 2002, the legislature expanded the duties of the HLRB by transferring all HIOSH proceedings 
from the Labor and Industrial Relations Appeals Board (LIRAB) to the HLRB under House Bill 
682, Act 104 and codified in HRS Chapter 396.  However, this Act did not direct the 
promulgation of any rules, and the HLRB has since processed hundreds of HIOSH cases under 
HAR Chapters 41 and 42.  Many of the parties litigating these HIOSH cases have been small 
business owners who are often self-represented litigants (SRLs). 
 
 

 

 

  

AriolaJK
Received



2 
 

ATTACHMENT “B” (HLRB Small Business Impact Statement, parts II and IV-1) 
 
Under the current rules of practice and procedure before the HLRB, all parties appearing before 
the HLRB are required to comply with the provisions of HAR Chapters 41 and 42, including 
small businesses.  These rules have been in effect since the early1980s without major revisions.  
During this time, there have been no formal requests under HRS Section 201M-5, from any 
small business owners for review or amendment of the rules. 
 
The main purpose of the proposed adoption of Chapter 43 is to streamline the procedure for 
contested case hearings before the HRLB.  Combining the rules of practice and procedure in 
HAR Chapters 41 and 42 into one coherent and internally consistent new HAR Chapter 43 has 
been an ongoing effort by the HLRB Board and staff members over a number of years. The 
proposed draft is designed to provide all parties appearing before the HLRB a clear 
understanding of how to navigate the process of contested case hearings.   
 
Small businesses will not be adversely affected by the proposed rules, but instead will have rules 
of practice and procedure drafted with the inclusion of the statutory requirements of HRS 
Chapter 396, the HIOSH laws.  Many of the additions made to Chapter 43 will assist self-
represented small business owners in preparing their cases before HLRB.  The Board members 
recognize that these individuals often do not have the resources to hire attorneys to litigate their 
cases which may span weeks or months.  By providing them with clear and detailed procedural 
rules, they will be better prepared to present their cases and to be afforded a fair and just hearing.   
 
Important additions to Chapter 43 include procedures for the Board’s electronic filing system 
which is free of charge for any party to use.  It is open 24 hours/7 days per week and can be 
accessed anywhere in the world.  The General Provisions in Subchapter 1 were designed with the 
self-represented litigant (SRL) in mind.  Often, small businesses with less than five employees 
represent themselves as SRLs.  Through electronic filing, the SRLs will be saved the costs of 
mailing, copying, certifying, and serving documents.  For SRLs without internet access, the new 
provisions allow for the direct filing of documents with the Board.   
 
Over many years of adjudicating contested case hearings and overseeing union-related election 
and collective bargaining issues pursuant to HRS statutory requirements, the Board members 
have understood the necessity and efficiency of creating one complete set of administrative rules 
to guide all of its proceedings.   
  
While numerous changes appear in the draft of HAR Chapter 43, the majority of these involve 
the merging of the provisions in HAR Chapters 41 and 42, and the renumbering of the 
subchapters and subsections into the new Chapter 43.  The “Organization of Subchapters” for 
HAR Chapters 41 and 42 and proposed Chapter 43 is included as Attachment “C” to show the 
subject matter areas.  Additions and revisions were made in the draft of HAR Chapter 43 to 
clarify the procedural requirements.  The proposed rule changes will not have a significant 
economic impact upon a substantial number of small businesses.    
 

  



3 
 

These changes are briefly summarized below: 

Subchapters 1 through 4 govern the procedures for all parties to follow in 
hearings before the HLRB under HRS Chapters 89, 377, and the 396 
appeals process. 

 
Subchapter 1  General Provisions 

Subsections added include mediation, recusal of Board members, quorum, 
filing and serving of documents.  Subsections revised include government 
records, confidential information.   
Some public sector unions objected to the added subsections re: 
mediation, recusal, and declarations.  The Board is reviewing these areas 
and considering either deletion or revision and retention. 

 
Subchapter 2  Practice and Procedure in Contested Cases 

Subsections added/revised include requirements for the appearance and 
practice before the Board, filing of motions, discovery, Board conferences 
and hearings, subpoenas, evidence, substitution of parties, burden of proof, 
proposed decision or order, motions to stay or enforce board decisions, ex 
parte communications, Board investigations, cooperation of employers 
and employee organizations. 
Some public sector unions objected to the subsections re: contemptuous 
conduct, Board regulation of hearings, subpoenas, proposed decision or 
order, ex parte communications, and cooperation of employers and 
employee organizations.  The Board is reviewing these areas and 
considering either deletion or revision and retention. 

 
Subchapter 3 Declaratory Rulings under Chapters 89 and 377, HRS 

Substantive change to allow the Board to refuse to issue a declaratory 
ruling where there is a genuine controversy of material fact. 

 
Subchapter 4  Prohibited Practices and Unfair Labor Practices 

Procedural changes to allow for unfair labor practice claims under Chapter 
377, exhaustion of remedies requirement for complainants, and a civil 
penalty of up to $10,000 per violation for wilful and repeated unfair labor 
or prohibited practices. 

 
Subchapter 5 Election of Bargaining Representatives in Public Employment 

Applies to public employment 
 
Subchapter 6  Clarification of Bargaining Unit 

Applies to public employment 
 
Subchapter 7  Resolution of Disputes and Impasses Pursuant to Section 89-11, HRS 
   Applies to public employment 
 
  



4 
 

Subchapter 8 Procedures Relating to Strikes – Rights and Prohibitions 
Procedural changes added re: time limits for notice of intent to strike 

    
Subchapter 9  Review of Dues Refund 

Applies to public employment  
 
Subchapter 10 Financial Reports of Employee Organizations 

Procedural changes added to allow employee to petition the Board for an 
order of compliance where the organization fails to comply.  

 
Subchapter 11 Resolution of Disputes Concerning Cost Items 

Applies to public employment 
 
Subchapter 12  Reference Materials 

Applies to public employment 
 
Subchapter 13  Streamlining Union Certification 

Subchapter promulgated in 2017--no substantive changes 
 
Subchapter 14 Election of Bargaining Representatives in Private Employment 

Petition for decertification provisions added 
 
Subchapter 15 Referendum Concerning All-Union Agreement 

No substantive changes 
 
Subchapter 16  Facilitating Initial Collective Bargaining Agreements, and Conciliation 

Subchapter enacted in 2017-- no substantive changes 
 
Subchapter 17  Petition for Temporary Restraining Order or Temporary Injunction  
   During Unfair Labor Practice Proceeding 

No substantive changes 
 
Subchapter 18 Procedure for Adoption, Amendment, or Repeal of Rules 

Substantive changes to allow Board to adopt emergency rules under 
chapter 91. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



5 
 

 
ATTACHMENT “C”  (HLRB Small Business Impact Statement, part IV-1) 
 
Organization of Subchapters in HAR Chapters 41, 42, and 43  
 
  

HAR Chapter 41   (Subchapters 1-9 adopted in 1983, Subchapters (9 and 10 adopted 
in 2017)  

 
 Subchapter 1  General Provisions 
 Subchapter 2  Prevention of Unfair Labor Practices 

Subchapter 3 Determination of a Collective Bargaining Unit and Election and 
                              Certification of Representatives 

 Subchapter 4      Referendum Concerning All-Union Agreement 
 Subchapter 5      Computation of Time and Certification of Documents 
 Subchapter 6      Declaratory Rulings 
 Subchapter 7      Petition for a Temporary Restraining Order 
 Subchapter 8      Amendments to the Rules 
 Subchapter 9      Streamlining Union Certification (effective in 2017) 
 Subchapter 10     Rules Facilitating Initial Collective Bargaining Agreements  
    Subject to Hawaii Revised Statute Chapter 377 (effective in 2017) 
 
 
 HAR Chapter 42   (Subchapters 1-10 adopted in 1981) 
 
 Subchapter 1  Rules of General Applicability 
 Subchapter 2  Determination of Optional Appropriate Bargaining Unit, 
    Selection of Exclusive Bargaining Representative, and  
    Decertification Pursuant to Sections 89-6 and 89-7, HRS 
 Subchapter 3  Prohibited Practices Pursuant to Section 89-13 and 89-14, HRS 

Subchapter 4  Resolution of Disputes, Grievances, and Impasses Pursuant to  
    Section 89-11, HRS 
 Subchapter 5  Procedures Relating to Strikes, Rights and Prohibitions  
    Pursuant to Section 89-12, HRS 
 Subchapter 6   (Repealed) 
 Subchapter 7  Financial Reports of Employee Organizations Pursuant to Section  
    89-15, HRS 
 Subchapter 8  Resolution of Disputes Concerning Cost Items Pursuant to Section  
    89-5, HRS 
 Subchapter 9  Reference Materials Pursuant to Section 89-5, HRS 
 Subchapter 10  Review of Refunds Pursuant to Section 89-4, HRS 
 

 

 

  



6 
 

 Proposed HAR Chapter 43       
 

Subchapter 1  General Provisions 
Subchapter 2  Practice and Procedure in Contested Cases 
Subchapter 3  Declaratory Rulings under Chapters 89 and 377, HRS 
Subchapter 4  Prohibited Practices and Unfair Labor Practices 
Subchapter 5  Election of Bargaining Representatives in Public Employment 
Subchapter 6  Clarification of Bargaining Unit  
Subchapter 7  Resolution of Disputes and Impasses Pursuant to Section 89-11,  

    HRS 
Subchapter 8  Procedures Relating to Strikes – Rights and Prohibitions 
Subchapter 9  Review of Dues Refund 
Subchapter 10  Financial Reports of Employee Organizations 
Subchapter 11  Resolution of Disputes Concerning Cost Items 
Subchapter 12  Reference Materials 
Subchapter 13  Streamlining Union Certification 
Subchapter 14  Election of Bargaining Representatives in Private Employment 
Subchapter 15  Referendum Concerning All-Union Agreement 
Subchapter 16  Facilitating Initial Collective Bargaining Agreements, and   

    Conciliation 
Subchapter 17  Petition for Temporary Restraining Order or Temporary Injunction 

    During Unfair Labor Practice Proceeding 
Subchapter 18  Procedure for Adoption, Amendment, or Repeal of Rules 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



7 
 

ATTACHMENT “D”  (HLRB Small Business Impact Statement, part IV-7) 
 
 
 

 
DAVID Y. IGE 
GOVERNOR 
 
JOSH GREEN 
LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR 
 
ANNE E. PERREIRA-EUSTAQUIO 
DIRECTOR, DLIR 
 
JOANN A. VIDINHAR 
DEPUTY DIRECTOR, DLIR 

 

 
 

MARCUS R. OSHIRO 
BOARD CHAIR 

 
SESNITA A.D. MOEPONO 

BOARD MEMBER 
 

J N. MUSTO, Ph. D 
BOARD MEMBER 

 

STATE OF HAWAII 
HAWAII LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

830 PUNCHBOWL STREET, ROOM 434 
HONOLULU, HAWAII  96813 

Phone (808) 586-8610 / FAX (808) 586-8613 
Email:  dlir.laborboard@hawaii.gov 

 
 
Dear 

 Re:   LETTER TO STAKEHOLDERS IN RESPONSE TO COMMENTS ON PROPOSED 
DRAFT HAR 43, REPEAL OF CHAPTERS 41 AND 42 

 Thank you for your letter of _________________ with comments to the proposed draft 
of Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR), Chapter 43, and the repeal of HAR Chapters 41 and 42.   

 The Board is thoroughly reviewing all of the comments from _____________________  
in conjunction with the related provisions found in HAR Chapters 41 and 42.  After completion 
of this process and input from stakeholders and the general public at the formal hearing under 
Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) Chapter 91, the Board will make a final determination as to 
which subsections in the proposed draft of HAR Chapter 43 will be revised or deleted.   

 Upon preliminary review, the Board notes that the subsections in HAR Chapter 41 
(governing proceedings under the Hawaii Employment Relations Act codified in HRS Chapter 
377), concerning contemptuous conduct, subpoenas, revocation of subpoenas, and 
consultation on issues, became effective in November of 1983, and have not been amended 
since that time.  

 Similarly, the subsections in HAR Chapter 42 (governing proceedings before the Hawaii 
Public Employment Relations Board under HRS Chapter 89), concerning contemptuous conduct, 
subpoenas, revocation of subpoenas, unauthorized ex parte communications, and consultation 
on issues, became effective in February of 1981, and have not been amended since that time. 1 

 
1 In general, the comments received from the stakeholders are summarized by reference to proposed HAR Chapter 
43 and current HAR Chapters 41 and 42, and are representative of the comments received and thus, may not be 
applicable to the particular comments which each exclusive representative filed with the Board and were responded 
to herein.  



8 
 

 Additionally, it is important to note that the administrative rules in HAR Chapters 41 and 
42 have governed the adjudication of appeals from the Department of Labor and Industrial 
Relations, Hawaii Occupational Safety and Health Division (HIOSH), Act 104, since 2002.  These 
cases primarily deal with workplace safety citations, penalties, and retaliation/whistle blower 
complaints, and “small businesses” are common appellants. 2 They comprise about one-half of 
the cases filed with the Board each year.   

 Finally, given that many of the current subsections in HAR Chapters 41 and 42 are 
substantially similar to the same subject matter provisions in the proposed draft of HAR 
Chapter 43, the Board, having reviewed the comments of _____________________________, 
is considering the following revisions to the proposed draft of Chapter 43, subject to further 
public comment pursuant to Chapter 91: 

12-43-3(d)(4) Redraft the proposed rules and delete this subsection regarding “Mediation 
in contested cases.” 

12-43-3(f) Redraft the proposed rules and delete this subsection regarding “Recusal.” 

12-43-5(b)(2) Retain the draft subsection regarding “Declarations.”   

12-43-18 Redraft the proposed rules and retain the substance of the present 
subsections in HAR Chapters 41 and 42 relating to “Contemptuous conduct.”  

12-43-27(c)(7)  Redraft the proposed rules and delete this subsection regarding “Hearings—
Board powers.”   

12-43-30(a) & (d) Redraft the proposed rules and retain the substance of the present 
subsections in HAR Chapters 41 and 42 relating to “Subpoenas.” 

12-43-37(a)&(c) Redraft the title of the proposed rule in 12-43-37 to read “Proposed 
decision or order” and redraft the proposed rules and retain the substance 
of the present subsections in HAR Chapters 41 and 42 relating to “Proposed 
decisions or orders.” 

12-43-42 Redraft the proposed rules and retain the substance of the present 
subsections in HAR Chapters 41 and 42 regarding “Ex parte 
communications.” 

 
 
2 “Small Business” means a for-profit corporation, limited liability company, partnership, limited partnership, sole 
proprietorship, or other legal entity that: (1) Is domiciled and authorized to do business in Hawaii; (2) Is 
independently owned and operated, and (3) Employs fewer than one hundred full-time or part-time employees in 
Hawaii. HRS 201M-1, Small Business Regulatory Flexibility Act.  



9 
 

12-43-44 Redraft the proposed rules and retain the substance of the present 
subsections in HAR Chapters 41 and 42 regarding “Cooperation of 
employers and employee organizations.”   

 Again, thank you for the __________________________  comments and suggestions.  
Be assured that your suggestions and those of the general public will be carefully reviewed and 
considered by the Board.   

 In closing, these initial comments are part of the process under the Small Business 
Regulatory Review Board, HRS Chapter 201M, and do not replace the hearing process under 
HRS Chapter 91.  At such time, the stakeholders and the general public will have the 
opportunity to review the proposed draft rules and provide comments at a public hearing 
under HRS Chapter 91.   

Very truly yours, 

 

MARCUS R. OSHIRO 
Chairperson  
Hawaii Labor Relations Board 

 
 



DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 
 
 

Repeal of Chapters 12-41 and 12-42 
and Adoption of Chapter 12-43, 
Hawaii Administrative Rules 

 
 

[date] 
 
 

 1.  Chapters 41 and 42, Hawaii Administrative 
Rules, entitled “Hawaii Employment Relations Board 
Rules of Practice and Procedure”, are repealed.  

   
 
    2.  Chapter 12-43, Hawaii Administrative Rules, 
entitled “Rules of Practice and Procedure before the 
Hawaii Labor Relations Board”, is adopted to read as 
follows: 
 
______________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________________________ 

AriolaJK
Received



 

 
43-1 

“HAWAII ADMINISTRATIVE RULES 
 
 

TITLE 12 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 
 
 

SUBTITLE 7 BOARDS 
 
 

CHAPTER 43 
 
 

RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE  
BEFORE THE HAWAII LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

 
 
 Subchapter 1 General Provisions 
 
 
§12-43-1  Scope 
§12-43-2  Subchapters 
§12-43-3  The board   
§12-43-4  Government records  
§12-43-5  Filing and service of documents 
§12-43-6   Retention of documents 
§12-43-7  Confidential information 
§12-43-8  Time 
§12-43-9  Extensions 
§12-43-10  List of mediators and arbitrators 
 
 
 Subchapter 2 Practice and Procedure in 

Contested Cases 
 
 
§12-43-16   Scope   
§12-43-17   Appearance and practice before the 

board 
§12-43-18   Contemptuous conduct 



 

 
43-2 

§12-43-19   Intervention 
§12-43-20   Consolidation 
§12-43-21   Motions 
§12-43-22   Amendment of documents 
§12-43-23   Discovery, depositions, and    
    interrogatories 
§12-43-24  Prehearing, pretrial, and status    
    conferences 
§12-43-25   Mediation in chapter 91, HRS, contested 
     cases  
§12-43-26   Agreed statement of facts 
§12-43-27   Hearings, in general 
§12-43-28   Notice of hearing 
§12-43-29   Hearing procedure 
§12-43-30   Subpoenas 
§12-43-31   Witnesses 
§12-43-32   Evidence 
§12-43-33   Substitution of parties  
§12-43-34   Burden of proof  
§12-43-35   Post-hearing briefs  
§12-43-36   Taking of further evidence or request  
    for further briefs 
§12-43-37   Proposed decision or order, exceptions  
§12-43-38   Decisions or orders and dispositive  
    orders of the board  
§12-43-39   Motions to stay or enforce board  
    decisions and orders 
§12-43-40   Judicial review of contested cases  
§12-43-41   Record on appeal from board decisions  
§12-43-42   Ex parte communications  
§12-43-43   Board investigations under chapters 89  
    and 377, HRS 
§12-43-44   Cooperation of employers and employee  
    organizations 

 
 

 Subchapter 3 Declaratory Rulings Under Chapters 
    89 and 377, HRS 
 
 
§12-43-50   In general 
§12-43-51   Petition 



 

 
43-3 

§12-43-52   Disposition 
§12-43-53   Hearing 
§12-43-54   Declaratory ruling 
 
 
 Subchapter 4 Prohibited Practices and Unfair 

Labor Practices 
 
 
§12-43-60   Scope 
§12-43-61   Complaint; service of complaint 
§12-43-62   Amendment of complaint 
§12-43-63   Withdrawal of complaint 
§12-43-64   Answer 
§12-43-65   Hearing 
§12-43-66   Decision and order 
 
 

Subchapter 5 Election of Bargaining 
Representatives in Public 
Employment 

 
 

§12-43-70  Scope 
§12-43-71  Petition for initial selection of  
    exclusive bargaining representative 
§12-43-72  Petition for decertification or change  

    in exclusive bargaining 
representative 

§12-43-73   Showing of interest 
§12-43-74   Withdrawal of petition 
§12-43-75   Notice of pending petition 
§12-43-76   Investigation 
§12-43-77   Stipulation for consent election 
§12-43-78   List of eligible voters 
§12-43-79   Notice of hearing 
§12-43-80   Hearing 
§12-43-81   Notice of election 
§12-43-82   Election procedure 
§12-43-83   Objections to the conduct of election 
§12-43-84   Runoff election 
§12-43-85   Hearing on challenges or objections 



 

 
43-4 

§12-43-86   Certification of new election results 
§12-43-87   Conclusive determination 
 
 

Subchapter 6 Clarification of Bargaining Unit 
 
 
§12-43-100   Scope 
§12-43-101   Petition 
§12-43-102   Procedure 
 
 

Subchapter 7 Resolution of Disputes and 
Impasses Pursuant to Section 89-
11, HRS 

 
 
§12-43-110   Scope 
§12-43-111   Policy 
§12-43-112   Notice of impasse 
§12-43-113   Alternate impasse procedure  
§12-43-114   Appointment of mediator  
§12-43-115   Duties of mediator  
§12-43-116   Confidential information  
§12-43-117   Report of mediator and parties  
§12-43-118   Notification of arbitration  
§12-43-119 Selection, qualification, and 

 certification of interest 
 arbitration panel pursuant to 
 section 89-11(e)(2), HRS 

§12-43-120   Findings and decision of interest   
    arbitration panel 
§12-43-121   Costs and expenses  
§12-43-122   Time frames  
§12-43-123   Closing of impasse cases  

 
 
Subchapter 8 Procedures Relating to Strikes – 

Rights and Prohibitions 
 
 
§12-43-130   Scope 



 

 
43-5 

§12-43-131 Notice of intent to strike 
 

 
Subchapter 9 Review of Dues Refund 

 
 
§12-43-140   Scope 
§12-43-141   Petition for review 
§12-43-142   Answer 
§12-43-143   Decision and order 
 
 

Subchapter 10 Financial Reports of Employee 
Organizations 

 
 

§12-43-150   Scope 
§12-43-151   Petition 
§12-43-152   Answer 
§12-43-153   Decision and order 
 
 

Subchapter 11 Resolution of Disputes Concerning 
Cost Items 

 
 

§12-43-160   Scope 
§12-43-161   Jurisdiction of the board 
 
 

Subchapter 12 Reference Materials 
 
 
§12-43-170   Scope 
§12-43-171   Collective bargaining agreement 
§12-43-172   Statutes, ordinances, rules,  
  regulations, orders, and policies 
§12-43-173   Information and data  
§12-43-174   Statistical data  
§12-43-175   Penalties 
 
 



 

 
43-6 

Subchapter 13 Streamlining Union Certification 
 
 
§12-43-180 Scope of streamlining union 

certification 
§12-43-181 Definitions 
§12-43-182 Streamlining union certification 
§12-43-183 Application of streamlining union 

certification 
§12-43-184 Filing of petition 
§12-43-185 Notice of petition 
§12-43-186 Investigation of petition 
§12-43-187 Notice of hearing 
§12-43-188 Eligibility and validity of 

authorization 
§12-43-189 Decision and order 
§12-43-190 Certification of representative 

 
 
Subchapter 14 Election of Bargaining 

Representatives in Private 
Employment 

 
 

§12-43-200   Scope 
§12-43-201   Determination of collective bargaining  

unit and election of collective 
bargaining representative 

§12-43-202   Petition 
§12-43-203   Hearing to determine bargaining unit 
§12-43-204   Pre-election conference, stipulation 

for consent election, hearing, and 
elections 

§12-43-205   Certification of election  
§12-43-206   Election results and objections  
§12-43-207   Challenged ballots 
§12-43-208   Runoff election 
§12-43-209   Petition for decertification 
 
 

Subchapter 15 Referendum Concerning All-Union 
Agreement 



 

 
43-7 

 
 

§12-43-220   Scope 
§12-43-221   Authority for all-union agreement 
§12-43-222   Rescission of authority and petition 
§12-43-223   Election to rescind authority and  
  hearing 
§12-43-224   Hearing 
§12-43-225   Balloting and post-balloting procedures  

 
 
Subchapter 16 Facilitating Initial Collective 

Bargaining Agreements, and 
Conciliation 

 
 
§12-43-230 Scope 
§12-43-231 Request to bargain 
§12-43-232 Notice of dispute and request for 

conciliation 
§12-43-233 Contents of notice 
§12-43-234 Board determination of jurisdiction and 

the possibility of settlement and 
termination of dispute 

§12-43-235 Appointment of conciliator 
§12-43-236 Duties of conciliator 
§12-43-237 Confidential information 
§12-43-238 Report of conciliator 
§12-43-239 Selection and certification of 

arbitration panel 
§12-43-240 Findings and decision of arbitration 

panel 
§12-43-241 Payment for conciliation and 

arbitration 
§12-43-242 Closing of dispute in an initial 

collective bargaining agreement case 
 
 

Subchapter 17 Petition for Temporary Restraining 
Order or Temporary Injunction 
During Unfair Labor Practice 
Proceeding 



 

 
43-8 

 
 
§12-43-250   Filing a complaint 
§12-43-251   Preliminary investigation 
§12-43-252   Procedure in conducting preliminary  
  investigation 
§12-43-253   Petition for injunctive relief 
§12-43-254   Hearing on complaint following  
  injunctive relief 
§12-43-255   Disposition of injunctive relief 
 
 
 Subchapter 18 Procedure for Adoption, Amendment, 

or Repeal of Rules 
 
 
§12-43-260   Scope 
§12-43-261   Petition 
§12-43-262   Disposition 
§12-43-263   Public hearing 
§12-43-264   Decision 
§12-43-265   Board initiated rulemaking 
§12-43-266   Emergency rulemaking 
 
 
Historical note:  Chapter 12-43 is based substantially 
upon repealed chapters 12-41 [Eff 11/10/83; R                  

] and 12-42 [Eff 2/6/81; am 4/12/82; R          
] 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 1 
 
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

 
 
 §12-43-1  Scope.  As used in these administrative 
rules, “the board” refers to the Hawaii labor 
relations board and is created by section 89-5, HRS.  
This chapter governs procedures before the board under 



 

 
43-9 

chapters 89, 377, and 396, HRS, and other statutes as 
may be administered by the board.  The board may also 
issue protocols to govern matters such as attire, 
order of presentation, seating, and decorum before the 
board.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 
377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 377-16, 
396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-2  Subchapters.  (a)  Each subchapter sets 
forth special rules applicable to the type of 
proceeding described in the caption of the subchapter. 
 (b)  This subchapter sets forth general rules 
applicable to all proceedings conducted by the board, 
and shall be read in conjunction with the subchapter 
governing the particular proceeding. 
 (c)  In any conflict between a general rule in 
this subchapter and a special rule in another 
subchapter, the special rule shall govern.  
 (d)  All applicable definitions for chapters 89, 
377, and 396, HRS, are incorporated herein.  [Eff  
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-
11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-3  The board.  (a) The office of the board 
is at 830 Punchbowl Street, Room 434, Honolulu, 
Hawaii, 96813, or such other address where the board 
is located.  Unless otherwise specifically directed, 
all written communications to the board shall be sent 
to this address.  
 (b)  The office of the board shall be open from 
7:45 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. of each day that is not a 
Saturday, Sunday, or state holiday, unless otherwise 
provided by statute, rule, executive order, or order 
of the board. 
 (c)  Sessions of the board shall be held as 
follows: 
 (1)  The board may meet and exercise its powers 
  in any part of the State; 



 

 
43-10 

 (2)  All rulemaking meetings of the board and 
other meetings of the board subject to 
chapter 92, HRS, shall be open to the 
public;  

 (3)  The board may meet in executive session, 
from which the public may be excluded, as 
provided in chapter 92, HRS; and  

 (4)  For internal management of the board, 
investigations or studies conducted by the 
board, and adjudicatory proceedings subject 
to chapters 89, 91, HRS, and other 
applicable laws, the board may deliberate in 
private, and any order, ruling, 
deliberation, or decision by the board in 
such proceeding may be made in private, as 
provided in chapter 92, HRS. 

 (d)  The administration of the board shall be as 
follows: 
 (1)  The board’s chair shall be responsible for  
  the administrative functions of the board; 
 (2)  The board may appoint an executive officer; 
  such executive officer shall have the duties 

 and functions as may be determined by the 
 board; 

 (3)  The board may appoint a hearings officer to 
conduct a hearing; the board may confer upon 
such hearings officer the necessary powers, 
subject to chapter 89, HRS, and subchapter 
2, to conduct such hearing and procedural 
matters related thereto; and 

 (4) The board may order mediation in any 
contested case and appoint a mediator.  All 
costs of the mediation shall be borne 
equally by the parties unless otherwise 
ordered by the board. 

 (e) Any party to a hearing may file a motion to 
disqualify a board member or hearings officer, which 
must be filed at least ten calendar days before the 
hearing in question or good cause shall be shown for 
the failure to file the motion within such time. Such 
motion shall be supported by a declaration based on 
the personal knowledge of the declarant and stating 



 

 
43-11 

the factual and legal reasons for the declarant's 
belief that a board member or hearings officer should 
be disqualified.  The board member or hearings officer 
against whom the motion is filed may respond to the 
motion or file a notice of recusal with the board.   
 (f)  Any board member or hearings officer may 
recuse the person’s self by filing with the board a 
statement that the board member is unable for any 
reason to participate in the pending hearing. 
 (g)  Any action taken by the board shall be by 
simple majority of the members of the board.  Two 
members of the board shall constitute a quorum.    
[Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 396-11.5)  
(Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 92-3, 92-4, 92-5, 92-6, 377-11, 
396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-4  Government records.  (a)  The term 
“government record,” as used in this chapter, shall be 
as defined in section 92F-3, HRS. 
 (b)  All of the board’s government records shall 
be available for inspection in the office of the board 
during established office hours, in accordance with 
and subject to the limitations and exceptions set 
forth in chapter 92F, HRS. 
 (c)  Government records printed or reproduced by 
the board shall be made available to any person 
requesting the same and upon making such arrangements 
as may be acceptable to the board for paying the 
required costs thereof, all in accordance with chapter 
92F, HRS, and any applicable circuit court and 
administrative rules.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  
HRS §§89-5, 92F-11, 377-13, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-
5, 91-2.5, 92-21, 92F-11, 92F-13, 377-13, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 

§12-43-5  Filing and service of documents.  (a)  
All documents submitted to be filed with the board for 
a case are subject to the following requirements. 



 

 
43-12 

 (b) General provisions applicable to all 
parties. 
 (1) Form of documents.  

(A)  All documents filed with the board 
shall be legible when printed on 
letter-size or A4 paper measuring eight 
and one-half inches by eleven inches in 
size, with twenty-pound weight or 
higher, written in ink or typewritten, 
one and one-half spaced between the 
lines, in twelve-point type or 
equivalent type size using Times New 
Roman or Courier or equivalent font, 
except that any document or exhibit on 
paper larger than letter-size shall be 
resized to fit on a letter-size paper.  
Any document or exhibit that cannot be 
resized or any video or audio recording 
shall be filed pursuant to the board’s 
directions. 

(B) The first page of every pleading shall 
set forth the name, current mailing 
address, email address, and telephone 
number of the party or party's 
representative who may be served with 
any document filed in the proceeding, 
the title of the pleading, the case 
number, and the name of the proceeding.  
All declarations shall conform to this 
section.   

(2) Declaration.  A declaration shall accompany 
all complaints or petitions in writing, 
signed by the declarant with an electronic 
or handwritten signature, certified by the 
declarant that the declaration was signed 
under penalty of law and its contents are 
true and correct, and dated.  All 
declarations shall conform to this section.   

(3) Certificate of service.  All pleadings filed 
with the board after the filing of the 
initial petition, complaint, transmittal of 
a notice of contest or other pleading 



 

 
43-13 

initiating the proceeding at the board, must 
be accompanied by a certificate of service 
upon all other parties, certifying that 
service was made electronically, by first 
class mail, or by hand-delivery.  All 
correspondence or other communication 
submitted to the attention of the board must 
also be sent to all other parties or their 
representatives. 

(4) Signing a document.  All documents filed 
with the board must be signed, either in 
black ink or electronically.  A person’s 
signature on a document constitutes a 
certification by the person that:  

 (A)  The person has read the document;  
(B)  To the best of the person’s knowledge, 

information, and belief, every 
statement contained in the document is 
true and correct and no statements are 
misleading;  

(C)  The person has complied with all 
applicable rules; and  

(D)  The document is not filed to hinder or 
delay the proceeding or for the purpose 
of harassing any party.   

(5) Service of documents.  All documents filed 
with the board must be served on the other 
parties or the parties’ representatives.  
Service of a document is complete upon 
mailing, hand-delivery, or electronic 
delivery; however, whenever a party has the 
right, or is required, to perform some act 
or take some action within a prescribed 
period after service of a document, and the 
document is served by mail, two days shall 
be added to the prescribed period.  

(c) Electronic filing and service.  All 
documents shall be filed using the board's electronic 
filing system (“EFS”), except as specifically provided 
herein.  Information on registering for the board's 
EFS shall be available on the board’s webpage or at 



 

 
43-14 

the board's office.  Only “users”, as defined in 
paragraph (1), may use the board’s EFS.   
 (1) As used herein, "user" or "users" means a 

party or a party’s representative in a case 
before the board and registered with the 
EFS.  All attorneys or law firms 
representing a party appearing before the 
board shall register as a user.  An employee 
of a user may register as a user in the 
employee’s own name to file documents on 
behalf of the employee’s employer, provided 
that such employer shall be responsible for 
the employee’s actions and documents 
electronically filed by the employee.  Each 
user shall follow the requirements of the 
EFS, including keeping the user’s 
registration information current with the 
EFS.   

(2) As used herein, "electronic signature" means 
the name of the user typed in the space 
usually reserved for a handwritten signature 
preceded by "/s/" or the image of the user's 
handwritten signature or any other mark or 
symbol acceptable to the board.  Subject to 
the board adopting alternative verification 
methodology, once a document is filed with 
the EFS, the electronic signature shall 
carry the same weight and legal effect as a 
handwritten signature.  The user is 
responsible for all acts and documents filed 
with the EFS.   

(3) An electronically filed document shall have 
the same legal effect as a document filed at 
the board’s office and is deemed to be filed 
as of the date and time affixed on the 
document by the board's EFS provided that 
any document filed with the EFS on a day or 
at a time when the board is not open for 
business is deemed filed on the next date or 
time the board is open for business.   

(4) If an electronic filing or an electronic 
service of a document does not occur because 



 

 
43-15 

of the EFS’ failure to process the document, 
inaccessibility to the EFS, or an EFS error 
and it was not due to the user’s fault, the 
board may extend any deadline.   

(5) An employer, exclusive representative, or 
labor organization who is a party to a case 
before the board may be permitted access to 
their case file by the board upon request.   

(d) Exemption from electronic filing. A self-
represented litigant (SRL) may file a signed written 
request with the board for an exemption from 
subsection (c) stating the reasons for the request.  
The signed request shall automatically be granted.  
The SRL shall agree to file all documents by first 
class mail or hand-delivery at the board’s office and 
serve all documents to the other parties in the case 
by first class mail or hand-delivery at the party’s 
last known address. 
 (1) All documents submitted to the board for 

filing under this subsection must contain 
the SRL’s handwritten signature in black 
ink.     

 (2) Upon receiving a document, the board shall 
affix a date and time on the document, 
signifying when the document was filed, 
which will be deemed as the original filing 
date.  The filed document will be uploaded 
by the board to the EFS.  The original filed 
document will be discarded.  Any date and 
time affixed by the EFS will not change the 
original filing date.   

(e) Board documents. The board may 
electronically serve board-issued documents upon 
parties, counsel, or representatives who are users.  
If an SRL is not a user, the board shall serve such 
party by mail or hand-delivery at the party's last 
known address, unless otherwise required by law. 

(1) Unless otherwise required by law, the board 
shall give written notice of any hearing by 
first class mail or by electronic service 
through the EFS at least fifteen days before 
the scheduled date of the hearing.   



 

 
43-16 

 (2) If electronically filed, all documents 
  issued by the board may be signed using  
  electronic signatures by a board member,  
  hearing officer, executive officer, or staff 
  member.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS 
  §§89-5, 89-5.1, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS 
  §§89-5, 89-5.1, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-6  Retention of documents.  (a)  All 
documents filed with or submitted to and accepted by 
the board shall be retained in the files of the board 
in such form or format as allowed in section 92-29, 
HRS, which copy, whether a photograph, 
microphotograph, reproduction on film or electronic 
copy, shall be an original record pursuant to section 
92-30, HRS.  The board's documents may be destroyed as 
provided in section 92-31, HRS. 
 (b)  The board may permit the withdrawal of 
original documents upon submission of properly 
authenticated copies to replace the original 
documents.  [Eff:                  ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§89-5, 377-1, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 
396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-7  Confidential information.  (a)  
Notwithstanding any other rule to the contrary, a 
party shall not include: (1) confidential information, 
including the information enumerated in section 92F-
14, HRS, in which an individual may have a significant 
privacy interest; and (2) any personal information, as 
defined in section 487N-1, HRS, in any document 
submitted to, or filed with, the board. 
 (b) All confidential or personal information 
that is not relevant to a proceeding shall be redacted 
from documents before filing or submitting the 
documents to the board.  If the confidential or 
personal information is relevant to a proceeding, the 
confidential or personal information shall be removed 



 

 
43-17 

from documents and shall be filed with or submitted to 
the board in a format that substantially conforms to 
Forms 1 and 2 of the Hawaii Court Records Rules.  
“Confidential or personal information” includes social 
security numbers, birth dates, home addresses, bank 
account numbers, medical and health records, and any 
other information in which a person has a significant 
privacy interest.   
 (c)  If the party submitting or filing a document 
containing confidential or personal information 
believes that the information is relevant to the 
proceeding and that the use of a form substantially 
similar to Form 2 of the Hawaii Court Records Rules is 
not adequate to protect the confidentiality or 
personal interest, the party may request by motion 
that the board accept the confidential or personal 
information under seal.  
 (d) To the extent that any confidential or 
personal information is not redacted and is or may be 
part of a record on appeal of a contested case which 
is subject to judicial review pursuant to chapters 89, 
377, 396, or 91, HRS, if the party submitting or 
filing the document without redaction is an individual 
or entity with the confidentiality or personal 
interest, then such interest is waived and such 
document shall not be altered (whether by redaction or 
otherwise) unless permitted by the board in its 
discretion upon motion duly made. 
 (e)  Upon motion or upon the board’s own 
initiative, the board may permit or order redaction of 
confidential or personal information contained in 
documents previously filed with or submitted to the 
board.  In such event, the redacted version shall 
replace the unredacted version in the board’s files. 
 (f) The board may impose sanctions and penalties 
upon parties or the parties' attorneys or 
representatives who do not comply with this section, 
where the parties or the parties' attorneys or 
representatives have not shown good cause for failure 
to comply.  Penalties may include monetary penalties 
not to exceed $1,000 per page.  [Eff                 ]   



 

 
43-18 

(Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-
5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-8  Time.  In computing any period of time 
prescribed or allowed by these rules or by order of 
the board, or by any applicable statute, the day of 
the act, event, or default after which the designated 
period of time begins to run shall not be included.  
The last day of the period so computed shall be 
included unless it is a Saturday, Sunday, or state 
holiday, in which event the period runs until the end 
of the next day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, or 
holiday.  When the period of time prescribed or 
allowed is less than seven days, intermediate, 
Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays shall be 
excluded in the computation.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-
5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-9  Extensions.  Unless otherwise provided 
by statute or law, the board may upon its own 
initiative, or upon motion by a party showing good 
cause, extend the time within which any action shall 
be taken at the request of any party.  A party 
requesting an extension of time shall file a motion 
with an accompanying declaration stating the reasons 
for the request.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 
377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-10  List of mediators and arbitrators.  
(a)  The board shall maintain a list of qualified 
persons, broadly representative of the public, to 
serve as mediators or arbitrators. 



 

 
43-19 

 (b)  The public employers and employee 
organizations may submit in writing the names of 
proposed mediators and arbitrators to the board. 
     (c)  The board may, by written order, establish 
reasonable hourly and daily rates of mediators and 
arbitrators.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-
5) (Imp:  HRS §89-11) 
 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 2 
 
 

PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE IN CONTESTED CASES 
 
 
 
 §12-43-16  Scope.  This subchapter governs the 
general practice and procedure relating to contested 
case proceedings before the board, pursuant to  
chapters 89, 91, 377, and 396, HRS.  [Eff             
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-
11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-17  Appearance and practice before the 
board.  (a)  An employee, public employee, or other 
individual who is a party to a proceeding may appear 
on the person’s own behalf; an employee organization 
may be represented by a person or persons duly 
designated and authorized by the employee 
organization; and an employer or public employer may 
appear on its own behalf or through a person or 
persons duly designated and authorized by such 
employer. 
 (b)  When a person acting in a representative 
capacity appears in a proceeding or signs a document 
submitted to the board, that appearance or signature 
shall constitute a representation to the board that 
such individual is lawfully authorized to act as a 
representative.  The board may at any time require any 



 

 
43-20 

person transacting business before the board in a 
representative capacity to furnish proof of 
authorization to act in that capacity. 
 (c)  In any proceeding under chapters 89, 377, or 
396, HRS, any employee, public employee, employee 
organization, employer, public employer, or any other 
party to a proceeding may be represented by legal 
counsel at that party or individual’s own expense. 
   (1)  Substitution of legal counsel shall be 

effective upon filing of notice of the 
substitution by the party represented.  
Withdrawal of legal counsel in the absence 
of a concurrent substitution shall be 
effective only upon the approval of the 
board and is subject to the guidelines of 
the Hawaii Rules of Professional Conduct.  
No party shall substitute or withdraw legal 
counsel for the purpose of delaying a 
proceeding.  Substitution or withdrawal of 
counsel less than thirty days before a 
hearing shall not be considered sufficient 
reason to continue the hearing, unless good 
cause is shown. 

(2) At the discretion of the board, an attorney 
 who is not authorized to practice law in the 
 state and who associates with a member in 
 good standing of the Hawaii state bar may 
 appear in a representative capacity.  

 (d)  Any ethical bar to appearing before the 
board is governed by chapter 84, HRS. 

(e)  Any employee, public employee, or other 
individual who is a party to a proceeding appearing on 
the person’s behalf, employee organization 
representative, person acting in a representative 
capacity, or legal counsel representing a party shall 
be responsible for notifying and keeping the board 
informed of their current information, including a 
mailing address, contact phone number, and email 
address. 
 (f) The board may establish additional decorum 
standards or protocols.  [Eff                 ]  



 

 
43-21 

(Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-
5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-18  Contemptuous conduct.  (a)  
Contemptuous conduct during any hearing or proceeding 
shall be grounds for summary exclusion from the 
hearing or proceeding. 
 (b)  Contemptuous conduct, if of an aggravating 
character and engaged in by an attorney or other 
representative of a party, shall be grounds for 
suspension or exclusion from further practice before 
the board after due notice and opportunity for 
hearing. 
 (c)   The refusal of a witness at any proceeding 
or hearing to answer any question which has been ruled 
to be proper may, in the discretion of the board, be 
grounds for disregarding all testimony previously 
given by such witness on related matters.   
 (d)  Any person who wilfully assaults, resists,  
prevents, impedes, or interferes with any member of 
the board, or any of the board’s agents or employees, 
in performance of duties under chapter 89 or 377, and 
396, HRS, shall be fined not more than $500 or 
imprisoned not more than one year, or both.  [Eff 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 89-18, 377-11, 
377-15, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9, 
396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-19  Intervention.  (a)  A petition to 
intervene in a proceeding and become a party thereto 
shall be filed with the board within ten days after 
notice of the proceeding in which intervention is 
sought, or as otherwise directed by the board. 
 (b)  The petition shall contain the following: 
 (1)  Nature and extent of the petitioner’s rights  
  or interest; 
 (2)  Effect of any decision in the proceeding on  
  the petitioner’s rights or interest; 



 

 
43-22 

 (3)  Extent to which the petitioner’s interest 
  may be represented by existing parties; 
 (4)  Extent to which the petitioner’s 

participation will broaden the issue or 
delay the proceeding; and 

 (5)  Any other relevant facts. 
 (c)  Intervention is discretionary, and may only 
be granted on averments which are reasonably pertinent 
to the issues already presented but do not unduly 
broaden them.  If intervention is granted, the 
petitioner thereby becomes an intervenor and a party 
to the proceeding to the degree indicated by board 
order allowing the intervention.  [Eff              
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-
11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-20  Consolidation.  The board, upon motion 
or its own initiative, may consolidate for hearing or 
other purposes, or may contemporaneously consider, two 
or more proceedings which involve substantially the 
same parties or issues or arise out of the same 
general transaction, if it finds that the 
consolidation or contemporaneous consideration will be 
conducive to the proper dispatch of its business and 
to the ends of justice and will not unduly delay the 
proceedings.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 
377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-21  Motions.  (a)  An application for 
relief or order shall be made by motion, which, unless 
made during a hearing, shall be made in writing, 
accompanied by declarations and memoranda setting 
forth with particularity the grounds therefor, and 
shall set forth the relief or order sought.  The board 
in its discretion may require any oral motion made at 
hearing to be reduced to writing and served on all 
parties. 



 

 
43-23 

 (b)  Motions referring to facts not of record 
shall be accompanied by declarations, and if involving 
a question of law, shall be accompanied by a 
memorandum of legal authorities. 
 (c)  Unless otherwise allowed by the board, 
answering memoranda, including but not limited to 
memoranda in opposition, memoranda in support, and 
memoranda of no position, shall be filed with the 
board within five days after service of the motion 
papers, unless otherwise directed by the board.  Reply 
memoranda, if permitted by the board, shall be filed 
within three days after service of answering 
memoranda, unless otherwise directed by the board. 
 (d)  The board in its discretion may decide to 
hear oral argument or testimony thereon, in which case 
the board shall notify the parties of the time and 
place of the argument or the taking of testimony.     
 (e) An exhibit or declaration attached to a 
motion is not in evidence at the hearing on the merits 
unless resubmitted by a party as an exhibit at the 
hearing. 
 (f)  All motions made during a hearing shall be 
made a part of the record of the proceedings. 
 (g)  Motions for preliminary injunction may be 
made where immediate and irreparable injury will 
result to the movant before the hearing on the merits 
of the case.  Hearing on a motion for preliminary 
injunction shall be scheduled as expeditiously as 
possible, following notice to the other parties and 
opportunity for the other parties to respond to the 
motion.  The board’s official record and any evidence 
admitted in a hearing on a motion for preliminary 
injunction will be incorporated into the record of the 
hearing on the merits or de novo hearing and need not 
be resubmitted.  Orders of preliminary injunction may 
be enforced as final orders of the board. 
 (h)  Memoranda in support of or in opposition to 
any motion shall not exceed twenty-five pages in 
length, exclusive of table of contents, table of 
authorities, declarations, exhibits, concise statement 
and other attachments (collectively, attachments).  
Reply memoranda shall not exceed ten pages in length 



 

 
43-24 

(exclusive of attachments).  Memoranda more than ten 
pages in length shall include a table of contents and 
a table of authorities.     
 (i)  Dispositive motions, such as motions to 
dismiss (except for those based on jurisdiction and a 
motion to dismiss in lieu of answer), motions for 
judgment on the pleadings, or motions for summary 
judgment, shall be filed before the hearing on the 
merits or within the time otherwise ordered by the 
board.   
 (1)  A motion to dismiss in lieu of answer 

shall be filed before the time to file an 
answer to a complaint has run; if denied in 
whole or in part, an answer to a complaint 
shall be filed within ten days after the 
board’s denial whether the denial is made 
orally or in writing, or as otherwise 
directed by the board.  Any other 
dispositive motion shall be filed after an 
answer has been filed or after the time to 
file an answer has run. 

 (2)  A motion for summary judgment shall be 
accompanied by a supporting memorandum and a 
separate concise statement detailing each 
material fact which the moving party 
contends has no genuine issues to be tried 
and is essential for the board’s 
determination of the motion. 

 (A)  Any opposition to a summary judgment 
motion shall contain a separate concise 
statement that admits or disputes each 
material fact set forth in the moving 
party’s concise statement, as well as 
setting forth any other material facts 
that the non-moving party contends are 
relevant. 

 (B)  The concise statements of moving and 
non-moving parties shall be no more 
than five pages or one thousand five 
hundred words, whichever is less, and 
may use a single-space format for the 



 

 
43-25 

presentation of facts and evidentiary 
support.   

 (C)  In preparing a concise statement, the 
party shall reference only the material 
facts necessary for the board to 
determine the limited issues presented 
in the motion.  The party shall include 
a citation to a particular declaration, 
exhibit, or other document supporting 
the party’s interpretation of the 
material fact for each reference.  The 
concise statement shall further 
specifically identify the page and 
portion of the page of the document 
referenced, with relevant portions of 
the attached exhibits, declaration, or 
exhibit highlighted or otherwise 
emphasized.  Documents referenced in 
the concise statement may be filed in 
their entirety if the full context 
would be helpful to the board.  If the 
referenced document is extracted, 
sufficient portion of the document 
shall be attached to put the matter in 
context. 

 (D)  In resolving a motion for summary 
judgment, the board shall have no 
independent duty to search and consider 
any part of the record not otherwise 
referenced in the concise statements of 
the parties, or to review exhibits in 
their entirety; rather, the board may 
in its discretion review only those 
portions of the exhibits specifically 
identified in the concise statements. 

 (E)  Material facts set forth in a moving 
party’s concise statement and supported 
by references shall be admitted unless 
controverted by the concise statement 
of the non-moving party and supported 
by references. 

  (F) In the board’s consideration of a  



 

 
43-26 

motion for summary judgment, if the 
record establishes that a non-moving 
party is entitled to summary judgment 
or other relief against the moving 
party, the board may enter an order 
granting summary judgment or other 
relief to the non-moving party, 
provided the parties have been given a 
fair opportunity to be heard on the 
relevant issues. 

 (3)  A hearing on a dispositive motion in a 
 prohibited practice or unfair labor 
 practice case before the hearing 
 on the merits shall meet the section 
 377-9(b), HRS, requirement that the 
 hearing on the complaint shall be not less  
 than ten nor more than forty days after  
 filing of the complaint or amendment  
 thereto.  [Eff               ]  (Auth:  HRS 
 §§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89- 
 5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 

 
 
 
 §12-43-22  Amendment of documents.  (a)  A 
pleading or document filed in a proceeding may be 
amended, at the discretion of the board, at any time 
before the board’s disposition of that pleading or 
document. 
 (b)  If a document is not in substantial 
conformity with the applicable rules of the board as 
to the format or contents thereof, or is otherwise 
insufficient, the board, on its own initiative or upon 
motion of a party, may strike or dismiss the document, 
or require its amendment. 
 (c)  A party moving to amend a document shall 
file a motion for leave to amend, together with the 
proposed amended document, and a declaration stating 
why the amendment should be granted.  
 (d)  If amended, the document shall be effective 
as of the date of the original filing, if it relates 
in all material respects to the original document.  



 

 
43-27 

[Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 
396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-23  Discovery, depositions, and 
interrogatories.  (a)  In proceedings pursuant to 
chapter 396, HRS, the nature and extent of discovery 
will be controlled by the Hawaii Rules of Civil 
Procedure applicable to that form of discovery and may 
commence upon the filing of the notice of contest.  
 (b)  In proceedings other than appeals pursuant 
to chapter 396, HRS, upon written application and for 
good cause shown, the board may permit the parties to 
take depositions upon oral examination or written 
interrogatories in the manner prescribed under the 
Hawaii Rules of Civil Procedure.  
 (c)  In proceedings involving prohibited practice 
complaints and unfair labor practice complaints, 
discovery is disfavored.  If discovery is requested by 
a party and allowed by the board, it shall extend the 
requirement of section 377-9(b), HRS, that a hearing 
on a complaint shall be fixed not more than forty days 
after the filing of the complaint or amendment 
thereof. 
 (d)  Witness fees and mileage shall be paid by 
the party naming and calling the witness and shall be 
the same as fees paid to witnesses in circuit court.  
[Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 
396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-24  Prehearing, pretrial, and status 
conferences.  (a)  The board may order that a 
prehearing or status conference be conducted and 
attended by all parties to the proceeding, either in 
person or by remote access, as determined by the 
board.   
 (1)  The purpose of a prehearing or status 

conference is to discuss the case, in whole 
or in part, including but not limited to 



 

 
43-28 

clarifying or limiting the issues and 
scheduling of proceedings and deadlines. 

(2) The purpose of a pretrial conference is to 
identify, exchange, and to the extent 
possible, reach agreement or resolve issues 
regarding the admissibility of witness 
testimony, exhibits, facts, matters, or 
procedures to facilitate and expedite the 
hearing or adjudication of the issues 
presented; and address other prehearing, 
scheduling, or administrative matters. 

 (b)  Before the pretrial conference, the board 
may require each party to submit a pretrial conference 
statement disclosing and identifying all witnesses to 
be called at the hearing, the order of their 
appearance, all exhibits to be used, and other matters 
to simplify the issues and facilitate the orderly 
progress of the hearing.  A pretrial conference 
statement shall be filed at least three days before 
the conference or as otherwise ordered by the board 
and each party may be required to submit copies of 
each of the exhibits with the pretrial conference 
statement.   
 (c) Stipulation to settle.  If the parties enter 
into a stipulation to settle a case, either party 
initiating the settlement shall file with the board 
the stipulation to settle signed by all of the parties 
or notice of withdrawal of the case with the board.  
Upon receipt of a filed stipulation to settle or 
notice of withdrawal of the case, the board will issue 
and file its own order dismissing and closing the 
case.  [Eff                  ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 
377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9, 
396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-25  Mediation in chapter 91, HRS, 
contested cases.  (a)  To the extent provided by law, 
the board may encourage parties to a contested case 
hearing under chapter 91, HRS, to participate in 
mediation before the hearing. The board may suspend 



 

 
43-29 

all further proceedings in the contested case pending 
the outcome of the mediation. 

(b)  No mediation period shall exceed thirty days 
from the date the case is referred to mediation, 
unless otherwise extended by the board. 

(c)  The parties may jointly select a person to 
conduct the mediation.  If the parties are unable to 
jointly select a mediator within ten days of the 
referral to mediation, the board shall select the 
mediator.  All costs of the mediation shall be borne 
equally by the parties unless otherwise agreed, 
ordered by the board, or provided by law. 

(d)  No mediation statements or settlement offers 
tendered shall be admitted into any subsequent 
proceedings involving the case, including the 
contested case hearing or a court proceeding. 
 (e)  No preparatory meetings, briefings, or 
mediation sessions under this section shall constitute 
a meeting under section 92-2, HRS.  Any mediator notes 
under this section shall be exempt from section 92-21, 
HRS and chapter 92F, HRS.  Section 91-10, HRS, shall 
not apply to these mediation proceedings.  [Eff         
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 396-11.5) (Imp:  
HRS §§91-8.5, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-26  Agreed statement of facts.  In any 
proceeding, the parties may agree to a statement of 
facts to be introduced into the record with respect to 
any issue.  The board may accept an agreed statement 
of facts without a hearing on the merits.  The parties 
to an agreed statement of facts may stipulate to waive 
the holding of a hearing on the merits.  [Eff            
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-
11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-27  Hearings, in general.  (a)  All 
hearings shall be conducted by the board or a duly 
appointed hearings officer. 



 

 
43-30 

 (b)  Hearings shall be open to the public, except 
for hearings under chapter 396, HRS, unless otherwise 
provided by this chapter, or order, for good cause, by 
the board.  Unless otherwise provided by law, any 
hearing may be conducted by remote access, as 
determined by and at the discretion of the board. 
 (c)  Unless otherwise provided by law, the board, 
in conducting a hearing, shall have the powers, 
without limitation, to: 
 (1)  Hold hearings and issue notices; 
 (2)  Administer oaths and affirmations; 
 (3)  Consolidate hearings or several proceedings,  

provided that those actions shall be 
conducive to effectuating the ends of 
justice and shall not unduly delay the 
proceedings or hinder, harass, or prejudice 
any party; 

 (4)  Subpoena and examine witnesses; 
 (5)  Issue subpoenas; 
 (6)  Rule upon offers of proof, to receive  

relevant evidence, and to exclude evidence 
which is irrelevant, immaterial, privileged, 
or unduly repetitious, and accordingly may 
restrict lines of questioning or testimony; 

 (7)  Regulate the scheduling, course, manner, and 
  conduct of the hearing, including but not  
  limited to the bifurcation of the    
  proceedings, and the continuance of any  
  proceeding or hearing; 
 (8)  Regulate the manner of any examination so as  

to prevent needless and unreasonable 
harassment, intimidation, or embarrassment 
of any witness or party at the hearing; 

 (9) Regulate the amount of time for presentation 
of opening statements, closing statements, 
and oral arguments; 

    (10)  Remove and hold in contempt disruptive 
  individuals including any party, legal 
  counsel, representative, witness, or  
  observer; 



 

 
43-31 

    (11)  Hold conferences before or during the  
  hearing, for the settlement or    
  simplification of issues; 
    (12)  Rule on motions and dispose of procedural  
  matters; 
    (13)  Issue oral and minute rulings and orders to  
  dispose of procedural or substantive   
  matters, the basis for which will be   
  incorporated or addressed in a final   
  decision or order; 
    (14)  Examine, after notice to all parties, any  

site or tangible evidence relevant to the 
case; and 

    (15)  Dispose of any other matter that normally 
and properly arises during the proceedings 
and to take any action authorized by this 
chapter, chapters 89, 377, or 396, HRS, or 
any other related laws. 

 (d)  Unless requested for purposes of rehearing 
or court review or otherwise required by law, the 
board is not required to transcribe the record of any 
proceeding.  However, the parties may agree to have 
the proceedings transcribed at their own cost and to 
stipulate that the transcript be deemed the official 
record of the proceeding.  

(1) Anytime a party references a portion of a 
transcript not deemed the official record 
during the proceedings, including but not 
limited to at the hearing, or in a post-
hearing brief or other filed document, the 
party is required to file with the board a 
copy of the entire transcript to which the 
reference is made simultaneously or before 
the reference being made.   

(2)  Anytime a party makes reference to an audio 
or videotape, including but not limited to 
during the hearing, or in the party’s post-
hearing argument or brief or other filed 
document, the party shall cite the date of 
the recording and the counter number or time 
at which the cited material is located on 
the audio or videotape.  [Eff               



 

 
43-32 

                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-
11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 91-
9, 377-9, 396-11.5) 

 
 
 
 §12-43-28  Notice of hearing.  Unless otherwise 
provided by statute or these rules, all parties shall 
be given written notice of the hearing on the merits 
electronically or by first class mail at least fifteen 
days before the hearing.  [Eff                  ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-
5, 89-14, 91-9, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-29  Hearing procedure.  Unless otherwise 
ordered by the board, or stipulated to by the parties 
with the board’s approval, all hearings shall proceed 
as follows: 
 (1)  The parties shall have the opportunity to 

make opening statements before any evidence 
is presented, unless they waive that 
opportunity.  The board may limit the time 
for, and control the order of, opening 
statements; 

 (2)  The board may decide the order of 
presentation by the parties.  However, the 
order of presentation will not determine the 
burden of proof;   

 (3)  After presentation of evidence in support of 
their respective cases, the party with the 
burden of proof shall have the opportunity 
to introduce rebuttal evidence;  

 (4)  Each witness shall be examined first by the 
party calling the witness, before cross-
examination by the opposing party or 
parties; 

(5)  The board may also question any party or 
witness appearing before it in any matter, 
or a party’s attorney or other 



 

 
43-33 

representative appearing before the board, 
with respect to the matter; 

 (6)  After all evidence, including rebuttal 
evidence, has been presented, the parties 
shall have the opportunity to make final 
oral argument or submit a post-hearing 
brief; and 

 (7)  The hearing shall be closed for the purposes 
of taking evidence after completion of all 
final oral arguments, if any, or when the 
parties have rested their case, whichever 
occurs later.  [Eff                  ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-9,396-11.5) (Imp:  
HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 

 
 
 
 §12-43-30  Subpoenas.  (a)  The board may issue 
subpoenas or subpoenas duces tecum to require the 
attendance of witnesses in the State and the 
production of books and papers before or at the 
hearing as provided by the Hawaii Rules of Civil 
Procedure. 
 (b)  Any party may file an application for 
subpoena with the board before the hearing.  The 
subpoena must be served on the witness at least seven 
business days before the hearing or attendance or 
production date. 
 (c)  A motion to revoke or quash a subpoena may 
be filed with the board no later than three business 
days from the date of service of the subpoena; and  
 (d) The board may revoke, quash, or otherwise 
limit a subpoena on the ground that the subpoena does 
not reasonably relate to any matter under 
investigation, inquiry, or hearing; that the subpoena 
does not describe with sufficient particularity the 
evidence sought or that the evidence sought from the 
witness is privileged under the law; that the subpoena 
is harassing; or for other good cause shown.  [Eff                     
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§ 89-5, 377-11, 396-
11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5)  
 



 

 
43-34 

 
 
 §12-43-31  Witnesses.  (a)  All witnesses shall 
appear in person or by remote access, as determined by 
and at the discretion of the board, and shall be 
examined under oath or affirmation.  All witnesses 
subpoenaed by a party shall be paid by that party the 
same witness and mileage fees as witnesses in the 
civil courts of the State.  Travel costs for 
subpoenaed witnesses shall be paid by the party 
requesting the witness’s appearance. 
 (b)  No person served with a subpoena issued by  
the board shall refuse or neglect to appear, to 
testify, or to produce books and papers relevant to 
such investigation, inquiry, or hearing as commanded 
in such subpoena with the board. 
 (c)  A failure to comply with, or neglect of, a 
subpoena issued by the board may be certified by the 
board to a court of competent jurisdiction for an 
order of compliance.  Any person who fails or neglects 
to appear or to testify or to produce books, papers, 
or records as required, may, upon application to a 
court of competent jurisdiction, be ordered to appear 
before the board to testify or produce evidence if so 
ordered, and the failure to obey the order may be 
punished as contempt of court.  In the discretion of 
the board, failure to comply with a subpoena issued by 
the board may be grounds for striking all testimony or 
other evidence previously given by the witness on 
related matters.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§89-5, 377-9, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 
377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-32  Evidence.  (a)  In any proceeding 
before the board, the board shall not be bound by the 
technical rules of evidence, and all relevant oral or 
documentary evidence shall be admitted. 
 (b)  All irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly 
repetitious evidence shall be excluded.   



 

 
43-35 

 (c)  The board shall give effect to the rules of 
privilege recognized by law. 
 (d)  Documentary evidence shall be submitted in 
the format as specifically ordered by the board.  The 
board may require any document that can be reduced to 
electronic format be reduced.  A hard copy of the 
documentary evidence shall be provided to the board at 
any hearing.  
 (e)  The board may take notice of judicially 
recognizable facts.  In addition, the board may take 
notice of generally recognized technical or scientific 
facts, and the parties shall be afforded an 
opportunity to contest such facts so noticed.   
 (f)  The board may take notice of any proceeding 
in its records, pertinent collective bargaining 
agreements, case law and other judicial and 
administrative proceedings, and the legislative 
history of statutes.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  
HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-
14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-33  Substitution of parties.  (a)  Upon 
motion and for good cause shown, such as death or 
legal incapacity, the board may order substitution of 
parties; provided that the substitution: 
 (1)  Is conducive to effectuating the ends of  
  justice; 
 (2)  Will not unduly delay the proceeding; and 
 (3)  Will not otherwise unduly harass, hinder, or  
  prejudice the rights of any party.  
 (b)  When a public officer is a party to any 
proceeding and the officer dies, resigns, or otherwise 
ceases to hold office, the officer’s successor is 
automatically substituted as a party.   

(c)  Proceedings following a substitution shall be 
in the name of the substituted party, but any misnomer 
not affecting the substantial rights of the parties may 
be disregarded in the discretion of the board. 

(d)  Proceedings against a public employer or a 
union may proceed even though the petitioner incorrectly 



 

 
43-36 

names the public employer or union, if the board is able 
to ascertain the true public employer or union.  Any 
public employee of a public employer or union 
specifically named shall be named in their official 
capacity as an employee of the public employer or union.  
[Eff                  ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-
11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-34  Burden of proof.  Unless otherwise 
ordered or provided by statute, the party initiating 
the proceeding shall have the burden of proof, 
including the burden of producing evidence and the 
burden of persuasion.  The degree or quantum of proof 
shall be a preponderance of the evidence.  [Eff                  
                ]  (Auth:   HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-
11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 91-10, 377-9, 396-
11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-35  Post-hearing briefs.  (a) After all 
parties have rested their cases at the hearing, a 
party may file a post-hearing brief in lieu of final 
oral argument made before the close of hearing.  Such 
party shall be entitled to file a brief within the 
time as may be fixed by the board, except that the 
board may order that proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law be submitted in lieu of or in 
addition to the parties’ post-hearing briefs.  Post-
hearing briefs and proposed findings and conclusions 
may not exceed twenty-five pages in length, exclusive 
of transcripts.  Upon motion and for good cause shown, 
the board may grant permission to exceed these page 
limits.   
 (b)  The board may, on its own initiative, order 
the filing of briefs or proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law, or both, when it deems such filing 
is warranted by the nature of the proceedings or the 
issues therein. 



 

 
43-37 

 (c)  A request for extension of time within which 
to file a brief or proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law shall be filed at least ten days 
before the expiration of the required time for filing, 
and shall be accompanied by a declaration setting 
forth the grounds upon which it is based and 
indicating the position of the other parties with 
regard to the request.  [Eff                   ]   
(Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-
5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-36  Taking of further evidence or request 
for further briefs.  At any time before the issuance 
of a decision by the board or recommended decision by 
a hearings officer, the board or hearings officer may, 
upon its own initiative or upon motion and for good 
cause shown, reopen the hearing for the purpose of 
taking further evidence, or further briefing and shall 
do so in a written decision or order.  Further 
evidence or briefing may be obtained through oral 
hearing or by certification of questions to the 
parties.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 
377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9, 
396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-37  Proposed decision, order, or 
preliminary ruling and exceptions.  (a)  This section 
applies to a decision, order, or preliminary ruling 
that would entitle an aggrieved person judicial review 
under section 91-14, HRS.   
 (b) When a hearings officer or a board member 
rendering a final decision has not heard and examined 
all of the evidence, a final decision shall not be 
made until a proposal for decision containing a 
statement of reasons and including determination of 
each issue of fact or law necessary to the proposed 
decision has been served upon the parties.    



 

 
43-38 

 (c)  An adversely affected party may file 
exceptions to the whole or part of the proposed 
decision, order, or preliminary ruling and may include 
a request for an opportunity to present oral argument 
before the hearings officer or the board.  A copy of 
the exceptions shall be served by the party so 
excepting upon each party to the proceeding. 
 (d)  The exceptions shall: 
 (1)  Set forth specifically the questions of  

procedure, fact, law, or policy to which 
exceptions are taken; 

 (2)  Identify that part of the proposed decision, 
  order, or preliminary ruling to which    
  exceptions are made; 
 (3)  Designate by citation the portions of  
  the record relied upon; 
 (4)  Cite any authorities relied upon; and 
 (5)  State all grounds and reasons for exceptions  

to a ruling, finding, conclusion, or 
proposal.  Grounds not cited or specifically 
urged are waived. 

 (e)  Any party may file with the hearings officer 
or board a statement in support of the proposed 
decision, order, or preliminary ruling within five 
days after service of another party’s exceptions.  A 
statement in support shall be served on each party. 
 (f)  When exceptions have been timely filed and a 
party has requested the opportunity to present oral 
argument, all parties to the proceeding shall be 
afforded the opportunity to present oral argument to 
the board concerning the proposed decision, order, or 
preliminary ruling.  All parties shall be served with 
notice of the time and place of the argument at least 
five days before the argument.  Within a reasonable 
time after the argument has been heard, the board 
shall issue a final decision or order, either 
adopting, modifying, or reversing, in whole or in 
part, the proposed decision or order. 
 (g)  When no written exceptions have been filed 
within the time limitation set forth above, the board 
shall issue a final decision or order, either 
adopting, modifying, or reversing, in whole or in 



 

 
43-39 

part, the proposed decision or order.  The board shall 
state specifically in the final decision and order the 
reasons for any modification or reversal of the 
recommended decision or order.  
 (h) This section shall not apply to the board’s 
rulemaking functions.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  
HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-
14, 91-11, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-38  Decisions or orders and dispositive 
orders of the board.  (a)  Every final decision or 
order rendered by the board that is adverse to a party 
to the proceeding and appealable pursuant to section 
91-14, HRS, shall be in writing, or stated in the 
record, and shall be accompanied by separate findings 
of fact and conclusions of law.  Interlocutory orders 
may be in writing or stated in the record, and shall 
be enforceable by the board as if a final order.   
 (b)  Copies of final decisions and orders shall 
be available for public inspection in the office of 
the board or the board website or may be obtained upon 
request and the payment of appropriate costs, all in 
accordance with applicable law. 
 (c)  In a contested case where notice of the 
hearing has been served by publication and the party 
so served has failed to appear at the hearing, service 
of the board’s decision is complete upon mailing to 
the party’s last known address. 
 (d) Subject to any specific provisions set forth 
in any other subchapters, a final decision or order, 
withdrawal, or dismissal of a complaint, petition, 
contest or other pleading initiating a case before the 
board, shall close the case before the board.  [Eff   
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-
11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-39  Motions to stay or enforce board 
decisions and orders.  (a)  A party may move the board 



 

 
43-40 

to enforce or stay a final or interlocutory order or 
decision by the board.    
 (b)  A motion to enforce a board decision or 
order shall be made within thirty days after another 
party’s refusal to comply with the order.  Following 
notice to the other parties and opportunity for other 
parties to respond, the board in its discretion may 
schedule the motion for hearing or may decide the 
motion without hearing.  If it appears that a party 
failed to obey an order of the board while the same is 
in effect, the board may petition the circuit judge of 
the judicial circuit wherein such party resides or 
usually transacts business for the enforcement of the 
order and for appropriate temporary relief or 
restraining order.  The board shall certify the file 
in the court as the record in the proceedings, 
including all documents and papers on file in the 
matter, the pleadings and testimony upon which the 
order was entered, and the decision and order of the 
board.  Upon such filing the board shall cause notice 
thereof to be served upon the party by mailing a copy 
to the party’s last known address, and thereupon the 
judge shall have jurisdiction in the premises.   
 (c)  The board may on its own initiative petition 
the circuit court for appropriate relief.  [Eff         
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5, 396-11.5 (Imp:  
HRS §§89-13, 89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-40  Judicial review of contested cases.  
Appeals may be taken in accordance with statutory 
provisions.  A motion to enforce a final decision or 
order, motion for stay, motion for attorney’s fees and 
costs, or motion for reconsideration shall not affect 
the time in which an aggrieved party may appeal a 
final decision or order.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-
5, 89-14, 91-14, 377-9, 396-12). 
 
 
 



 

 
43-41 

 §12-43-41  Record on appeal from board decisions. 
(a)  The designation and certification of the record 
on appeal shall be controlled by the applicable Hawaii 
Rules of Civil Procedure. 
 (b)  Where the transcripts are not already part 
of the board’s records in a case, a party requesting 
transcripts for purposes of appeal shall arrange with 
the court reporter for the payment of the transcripts 
and for filing of the transcripts with the board, 
unless otherwise ordered by the board. 
 (c)  As required by law, the appealing party or 
parties shall be responsible for all costs of 
preparing and transmitting a record on appeal, 
including the costs of copying and mailing documents.  
[Eff                 ] ( Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 
396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§91-9, 91-14, 396-11.5). 
 
 
 
 §12-43-42  Ex parte communications.  (a)  No 
employee, public employee, exclusive representative, 
employer, public employer, or any other person or 
organization, whether or not a party to a proceeding 
before the board, shall engage in any unauthorized ex 
parte communications, either orally, in writing or 
electronically, about any proceeding or matter pending 
before the board with any member of the board.   
 (b)  The following classes of communications 
shall not be prohibited: 
 (1)  Those which relate solely to matters which a  

board member or hearings officer is 
authorized to dispose of on an ex parte 
basis; 

 (2)  Requests for information with respect to the  
  status or scheduling of a proceeding; 
 (3)  Those which all parties to the proceeding  

agree, or which the board has formally 
ruled, may be made on an ex parte basis; and 

 (4)  Those with representatives of any news media  
on matters intended to inform the general 
public.  [Eff                 ] (Auth:  HRS 



 

 
43-42 

§§89-5, 377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 
89-14, 377-9, 396-11.5) 

 
 
 
 §12-43-43  Board investigations under chapters 89 
and 377, HRS.  Pursuant to chapter 89 or 377, HRS, the 
board may at any time institute investigations on its 
own initiative into any matter governed by chapter 89 
or 377, HRS.  The board shall serve its notice of 
investigation upon the employee, public employee, 
employee organization, employer, or public employer 
being investigated or having a direct interest or 
concern in the matter under investigation and shall 
designate the time and place for the investigation. In 
conducting an investigation or inquiry, the board may 
request or subpoena information from an employee, 
employee organization, or employer that is subject to 
chapter 89 or 377, HRS, or question a party, witness, 
a party’s attorney, or other representative appearing 
before the board, with respect to any matter.  [Eff   
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11) (Imp:  
HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-44  Cooperation of employers and employee 
organizations.  In proceedings pursuant to chapter 89 
or 377, HRS, the board may obtain the assistance or 
solicit the views of other governmental agencies, 
employee organizations, public employers, or private 
organizations where necessary or desirable to 
effectuate the purposes of chapters 89 and 377, HRS.  
[Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:    HRS 
§89-5). 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 3 
 
 

DECLARATORY RULINGS UNDER CHAPTERS 89 AND 377, HRS 



 

 
43-43 

 
 
 
 §12-43-50  In general.  (a)  Any employee, public 
employee, employer, public employer, exclusive 
representative, or interested person, who has standing 
under this chapter, may petition the board for a 
declaratory ruling as to the applicability of any 
statutory provision or of any rule or order of the 
board subject to its jurisdiction. 
 (b)  The provisions of subchapter 2 shall govern 
declaratory ruling proceedings except as otherwise 
provided in this subchapter.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 91-8) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-51  Petition.  (a)  The petition shall be 
prepared on a form furnished by the board. 
 (b)  The petition shall contain the following: 
 (1)  The name, mailing address, email address, 
  and telephone number of the petitioner, and 
          sufficient information to allow electronic 
          filing by, and electronic service upon, the 
          petitioner; 
 (2)  A statement of the nature of the 

petitioner’s interest, including reasons for 
submission of the petition; 

 (3)  A designation of the specific provision,  
  rule, or order in question; 
 (4)  A clear and concise statement of the 

position or contention of the petitioner; 
 (5)  A memorandum of authorities, containing a  

full discussion of the reasons, including 
legal authorities, in support of such 
position or contention; and 

 (6) The signature of each petitioner or  
  petitioner’s representative. 
 (c)  Any petition that does not conform to the 
foregoing requirements may be rejected.  [Eff         
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-
5, 91-8) 



 

 
43-44 

 
 
 
 §12-43-52  Disposition.  (a)  The board shall 
consider each petition submitted and, within a 
reasonable time after the submission thereof, either 
deny the petition, stating its reason for the denial; 
issue a declaratory ruling on the matters contained in 
the petition; or set the matter for hearing or 
argument. 
 (b)  The board may in its discretion refuse to 
issue a declaratory ruling.  Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, the board may so refuse 
where: 
 (1)  The question is speculative or hypothetical 

and does not involve existing facts or facts 
which are expected to exist in the near 
future; 

 (2)  The petitioner’s interest is not of the type  
which would give the petitioner standing to 
maintain an action if such petitioner were 
to seek judicial relief; 

 (3)  The issuance of the declaratory ruling   
  may adversely affect the interests of the  
  board or any of its officers or employees in 
  litigation which is pending or may   
  reasonably be expected to arise; 
 (4)  The matter is not within the jurisdiction of  
  the board; or 
 (5)  There is a genuine controversy of material  

fact, the resolution of which is necessary 
before any declaratory ruling may be issued.  
[Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 91-8) 

 
 
 
 §12-43-53  Hearing.  (a) The board may order a 
hearing on the petition. 
 (b)  The board may request the petitioner or any 
party to submit a statement of additional facts or 
memoranda to clarify a specific factual issue, 



 

 
43-45 

position, or contention.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 91-8) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-54  Declaratory ruling.  (a)  The board 
shall issue and serve upon the petitioner and each 
other party to the proceeding, if any, a decision and 
order, which shall include appropriate findings of 
fact and conclusions of law. 
 (b)  All declaratory rulings issued by the board 
shall be based upon the whole record and supported by 
substantial evidence, including those matters which 
the board took notice of pursuant to section 12-43-
32(e). 
 (c)  A declaratory ruling or an order disposing 
of a petition shall be applicable only to the factual 
situation alleged in the petition or set forth in the 
declaratory ruling or order disposing of the petition.  
The declaratory ruling or order disposing of the 
petition shall not be applicable to different factual 
situations or where additional facts not considered in 
the declaratory ruling or order disposing of the 
petition exist.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§89-5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 91-8) 
 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 4 
 
 

PROHIBITED PRACTICES AND UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES 
 
 
 
 §12-43-60  Scope.  (a)  This subchapter governs 
the procedures specific to prohibited practices 
pursuant to sections 89-13, 89-14, and 377-9, HRS, and 
unfair labor practices pursuant to sections 377-6, 
377-7, 377-8, and 377-9, HRS. 
 (b)  The provisions of subchapter 2 shall govern 
prohibited practice and unfair labor practice 



 

 
43-46 

proceedings except as otherwise modified in this 
subchapter.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-
5, 377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§89-13, 89-14, 377-9) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-61  Complaint; service of complaint.  (a)  
Any complaint alleging that a person, employee, public 
employee, exclusive representative, employer, or 
public employer has engaged in a prohibited practice 
pursuant to section 89-13, HRS, or an unfair labor 
practice pursuant to sections 377-6, 377-7, or 377-8, 
HRS, shall be filed within ninety days of the date the 
complainant knew or should have known of the alleged 
violation, prohibited practice or unfair labor 
practice. 
 (b)  A claim of prohibited or unfair labor 
practice based upon alleged violation of a collective 
bargaining agreement shall not be brought unless the 
complainant has exhausted all available remedies 
provided by the collective bargaining agreement, or 
can show that attempting to exhaust would be futile. 
 (c)  A prohibited practice or an unfair labor 
practice complaint shall be prepared on a form 
furnished by the board, and filed with the board.  The 
board shall serve a copy of the complaint upon each 
respondent charged. 
 (d)  The complaint shall include the following: 
 (1)  The complainant's name, mailing address, 

email address, and telephone number of the 
petitioner, and sufficient information to 
allow for electronic filing by, and 
electronic service upon, the complainant or 
complainant’s representative; 

 (2)  The name, address, email address, and 
telephone number, if known, of each 
respondent; 

 (3)  Designation of the appropriate bargaining  
  unit, if applicable; 
 (4)  Allegations supporting the complaint,  

including specific facts regarding the 
statutory violations; and 



 

 
43-47 

 (5)  A clear and concise statement of any other  
  relevant facts. 
 (e)  If the board has reasonable cause to believe 
that a respondent is an exclusive representative or an 
officer, employee, or representative of an exclusive 
representative, then service upon an officer of the 
exclusive representative shall be service upon the 
respondent. 
 (f)  Service upon a respondent shall be completed 
pursuant to section 12-43-5.   
 (g)  Any other person claiming interest in the 
dispute or controversy, such as an employer, public 
employer, employee, public employee, employee 
organization, or other party in interest may be made a 
party upon proof of interest. 
 (h)  The board may bring in additional parties by 
service of the complaint upon them. 
 (i)  Only one complaint shall be issued with 
respect to a single controversy.  [Eff               ]   
(Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 
377-9). 
 
 
 
 §12-43-62  Amendment of complaint.  The board may 
permit a complaint to be amended, upon proper motion 
and for good cause shown, at any time before the 
issuance of a final order based thereon.  An amended 
complaint replaces the original complaint in its 
entirety.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 
377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-63  Withdrawal of complaint.  A complaint 
may be withdrawn at any time before the issuance of a 
final order thereon, upon motion and with the consent 
of the board.  Whenever the board approves withdrawal 
of the complaint, the case shall be closed.  [Eff      
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11) (Imp:  
HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9)  
 



 

 
43-48 

 
 
 §12-43-64  Answer.  (a)  A respondent shall file 
an answer to a complaint, amended complaint or a 
motion to dismiss in lieu of answer within ten days 
after service of the complaint, unless otherwise 
directed by the board, and shall serve the answer or 
motion upon all other parties as reflected on an 
attached certificate of service. 
 (b)  If the charge is believed by a respondent to 
be so vague and indefinite that the respondent cannot 
reasonably be required to frame an answer thereto, the 
respondent may, within five days after service of the 
complaint, file a motion for particularization of the 
complaint with the board, requesting that the 
complainant file a statement supplying specific 
information.  If the board grants the motion, the 
complainant shall file with the board, and serve the 
respondent with, the requested particularization 
within five days after service of the board’s granting 
order, unless the board directs otherwise.  If the 
complainant fails to timely file and serve the 
particularization, the board may dismiss the 
complaint.  Within five days after service of the 
complainant’s particularization, the respondent shall 
file with the board an answer, with certificate of 
service on all parties, unless the board directs 
otherwise. 
 (c)  The answer shall contain the following: 
 (1)  A specific admission, denial, or explanation  

of each allegation of the complaint, or, if 
respondent is without knowledge thereof, the 
respondent shall so state and the statement 
shall constitute a denial; 

(2)  A specific detailed statement of any  
affirmative defense; and 

(3)  A clear and concise statement of the facts  
and matters of law relied upon constituting 
the grounds of defense. 

(d)  In circumstances involving excusable 
neglect, the board may, upon motion, extend the time 
within which the answer shall be filed. 



 

 
43-49 

(e)  All allegations of new matters in the answer 
shall be deemed denied without the necessity of a 
reply. 
     (f)  If the respondent fails to file a timely 
answer, such failure may constitute an admission of 
the material facts alleged in the complaint and a 
waiver of hearing.  

(g)  The respondent may file a motion to dismiss 
in lieu of a timely answer.  If such motion is denied, 
the respondent shall file an answer within the time 
specified in the board’s decision.  [Eff              
                ]  (Auth  HRS  §§89-5, 377-11)  (Imp:   
HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-65  Hearing.  The hearing on the merits of 
a case or a hearing on a dispositive motion shall be 
held not less than ten nor more than forty days after 
the filing of a complaint or amended complaint; except 
that the board may continue the scheduled hearing date 
to accommodate settlement discussions, discovery, 
mediation of the dispute, scheduling conflicts, 
hearings on motions, or other situations that may 
arise.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 
377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9) 
 
 
 

§12-43-66  Decision and order.  (a)  The board 
shall prepare a final decision setting forth findings 
of fact, conclusions of law, and order dismissing or 
sustaining the complaint, in whole or in part.  
Without limiting the board’s authority to order other 
appropriate remedies, the board may also require the 
respondent to do any or all of the following:  cease 
and desist from the prohibited practice or unfair 
labor practice found to have been committed; suspend 
the respondent’s rights, immunities, privileges, or 
remedies granted or afforded by chapters 89 and 377, 
HRS, for a period of time to be determined by the 
board but not to exceed one year; require the 



 

 
43-50 

respondent to take such affirmative action as will 
effectuate the purpose of chapters 89 and 377, HRS, 
including reinstatement of an employee with or without 
pay as may be deemed proper; and award interest,  
attorney’s fees, and costs.  The order may further 
require the respondent to make reports to the board 
showing the extent of compliance.  

(b)  A party who wilfully or repeatedly commits 
unfair or prohibited practices that interfere with the 
statutory rights of an employer or employees, or 
discriminates against an employer or employees for the 
exercise of protected conduct, is subject to a civil 
penalty of up to $10,000 for each violation.   

(c)  In determining the amount of any penalty 
under this section, the board shall consider the 
gravity of the unfair or prohibited practice and the 
impact of the practice on the charging party, on other 
persons seeking to exercise rights guaranteed by 
section 377-9, HRS, or on public interest.  [Eff          
   ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11) (Imp:  
HRS §§89-5, 89-14, 377-9) 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 5 
 
 

ELECTION OF BARGAINING 
REPRESENTATIVES IN PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT 

 
 
 

 §12-43-70  Scope.  (a)  This subchapter governs 
procedure relating to elections of an exclusive 
bargaining representative in public employment 
pursuant to sections 89-6 and 89-7, HRS. 
 (b)  The provisions of subchapter 2 shall govern 
elections of bargaining representatives in public 
employment, except as otherwise modified in this 
subchapter.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-
5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-6, 89-7) 
 



 

 
43-51 

 
 
 §12-43-71  Petition for initial selection of 
exclusive bargaining representative.  (a)  A petition 
to initially select an exclusive bargaining 
representative for an appropriate bargaining unit may 
be filed by an employee organization or anyone 
authorized to act on its behalf. 
 (b)  The petition shall be prepared on a form 
furnished by the board.   
 (c)  The petition shall include the following: 
 (1)  The name, mailing address, telephone number 

and affiliation, if any, of the petitioner, 
and sufficient information to allow for 
electronic filing by, and electronic service 
upon, the petitioner; 

 (2)  The name and address of the public employer  
involved; 

 (3)  The approximate number of employees in the  
  bargaining unit; 
 (4)  A description of the appropriate bargaining  
  unit, specifying inclusions and exclusions; 
 (5)  The name and mailing address of any known  
  employee organization that claims to   
  represent any of the public employees in the 
  claimed appropriate bargaining unit; and 
 (6)  A clear and concise statement of any other  
  relevant facts. 
 (d)  The petition shall be supported by a showing 
of interest of at least thirty per cent of the 
appropriate bargaining unit. 
 (e)  A timely petition to intervene in a 
selection proceeding shall be supported by a showing 
of interest of at least ten per cent of the employees 
in the appropriate bargaining unit. 
 (f)  The board shall not entertain a petition for 
initial selection of an exclusive bargaining 
representative in any appropriate bargaining unit 
within which:  

(1)  A valid election has been held in the 
preceding twelve months;  



 

 
43-52 

(2)  A valid collective bargaining agreement is 
in force and effect; or  

 (3)  Any new bargaining unit is created when the 
 created unit is composed of employees currently 
 covered by a valid collective bargaining 
 agreement and represented by the same exclusive 
 representative.  [Eff                  ]  (Auth:  
 HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-6, 89-7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-72  Petition for decertification or change 
in exclusive bargaining representative.  (a)  A 
petition for decertification or to change an exclusive 
bargaining representative may be filed by an employee, 
an employee organization, or anyone authorized to act 
in its behalf.  
 (b)  The petition shall include the following: 
 (1)  The name, mailing address, telephone number, 

and affiliation, if any, of the petitioner, 
and sufficient information to allow for 
electronic filing by, and electronic service 
upon, the petitioner; 

 (2)  The name and address of the public employer  
involved; 

 (3)  The approximate number of employees in the  
  bargaining unit; 
 (4)  A description of the appropriate bargaining  
  unit, specifying inclusions and exclusions; 
 (5)  The name and mailing address of any known  
  employee organization that claims to   
  represent any of the public employees in the 
  claimed appropriate bargaining unit; and 
 (6)  A clear and concise statement of any other  
  relevant facts. 
 (c)  The petition shall be supported by a showing 
of interest of at least fifty per cent of the 
appropriate bargaining unit. 
 (d)  A timely petition to intervene in a change 
or decertification proceeding shall be supported by a 
showing of interest of at least ten per cent of the 
employees in the appropriate bargaining unit.     



 

 
43-53 

 (e)  The board shall not entertain a petition of 
change or decertification in any appropriate 
bargaining unit within which:  

(1)  A valid election has been held in the 
 preceding twelve months;  
(2)  A valid collective bargaining agreement is 
 in force and effect; or  

 (3)  Any new bargaining unit is created when the  
  created unit is composed of employees   
  currently covered by a valid collective  
  bargaining agreement and represented by the  
  same exclusive representative.  [Eff          
                  ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  
  HRS §§89-6, 89-7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-73  Showing of interest.  (a)  A showing 
of interest shall be established through verifiable 
written proof of the names and signatures of 
employees.   
 (b)  A showing of interest may be filed 
simultaneously with, or within forty-eight hours 
after, the filing of a petition under this subchapter.  
For petitions for change or decertification, 
signatures of employees supporting the petition must 
be obtained within two months of the date of the 
petition to be valid. 
 (c)  Upon request, the board shall afford 
interested parties a contested case hearing in its 
investigation of the showing of interest. 
 (d)  An employee organization shall be regarded 
as satisfying the showing of interest requirement as 
an intervenor if it is the exclusive bargaining 
representative, or if it is a party to the most 
recently expired collective bargaining agreement 
covering the employees in the petitioned bargaining 
unit.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §§89-6, 89-7) 
 
 
 



 

 
43-54 

 §12-43-74  Withdrawal of petition.  A petition 
may be withdrawn with the approval of the board under 
the conditions as the board may impose to effectuate 
the policies of chapter 89, HRS.  Whenever the board 
approves withdrawal of any petition, the case shall be 
closed.  [Eff                  ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §§89-6, 89-7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-75  Notice of pending petition.  Upon the 
filing of a petition under this subchapter, notice 
thereof, including the date when the petition was 
filed, the name and mailing address of the petitioner, 
the name and address of the public employer involved, 
and the appropriate bargaining unit shall be posted on 
a public docket to be maintained by the board at its 
office.  Written notice of the petition shall be sent 
to the public employer and exclusive bargaining 
representative, if any, of the bargaining unit.   
[Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS 
§§89-6, 89-7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-76  Investigation.  (a)  After the filing 
of a petition, the board shall conduct an 
investigation. 
 (b)  The purpose of the investigation shall be to 
resolve the following: 
 (1)  Whether the showing of interest requirement  

under this subchapter has been satisfied; 
 (2)  Whether more than one employee organization  

seeks to represent the employees in the 
appropriate bargaining unit; 

 (3)  Whether there is agreement among the parties  
as to the composition of the appropriate 
bargaining unit; and 

 (4)  Whether the parties desire to enter into a  
  stipulation for a consent election.  [Eff    
                   ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  
  HRS §§89-6, 89-7) 



 

 
43-55 

 
 
 
 §12-43-77  Stipulation for consent election.  The 
stipulation for consent election shall be prepared and 
signed by the parties subject to the approval of the 
board.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §§89-6, 89-7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-78  List of eligible voters.  Upon request 
from the board, the public employer shall submit to 
the board a list of names and mailing addresses of all 
employees in the appropriate bargaining unit who are 
eligible to vote, not less than ten days before the 
scheduled date of election.  Subject to chapter 92F, 
HRS, as the same may be amended, the board shall treat 
the addresses of employees as confidential.  [Eff       
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-
6, 89-7)  
 
 
 
 §12-43-79  Notice of hearing.  Subject to section 
89-7(a), HRS, regarding a showing of interest hearing  
requirement, if it appears to the board after an 
investigation that a hearing is warranted, the board 
shall issue written notice of hearing upon the 
parties.  The initial notice of hearing may be served 
electronically, personally or by first class mail, and 
shall conform to section 12-43-27.  The board may 
notice and hold a prehearing conference.  [Eff      
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-
6, 89-7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-80  Hearing.  The procedures for hearing 
shall be governed by the provisions of subchapter 2.  
[Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS 
§§89-6, 89-7) 



 

 
43-56 

 
 
 
 §12-43-81  Notice of election.  (a)  The public 
employer shall post notices of election, on forms 
furnished by the board, where notices are normally 
posted affecting all employees in the appropriate 
bargaining unit not less than seven days before the 
scheduled date of election. 
 (b)  The public employer shall certify to the 
board that the notices of election have been posted as 
required. 
 (c)  The reproduction of any document purporting 
to be a copy of the board’s official ballot, other 
than one completely unaltered in form and content and 
clearly marked “Sample” on its face, which suggests 
either directly or indirectly to public employees that 
the board endorses a particular choice, may constitute 
grounds for setting aside an election upon objections 
properly filed.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-6) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-82  Election procedure.  (a)  All 
elections shall be by secret ballot. 
 (b)  Any party may be represented at the polling 
places by observers selected in accordance with the 
conditions as the board may prescribe. 
 (c)  Any authorized observer or the board’s agent 
may challenge, for good cause, the eligibility of any 
person to participate in the election. 
 (d)  The ballots of the challenged persons shall 
be impounded. 
 (e)  If the challenged ballots are insufficient 
in number to affect the result of the election, the 
challenged ballots shall not be counted. 
 (f)  If the challenged ballots are sufficient in 
number to affect the results of the election, the 
board shall conduct an investigation and, if 
appropriate and as may be required by chapter 91, HRS, 



 

 
43-57 

conduct a hearing.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-83  Objections to the conduct of election.  
(a)  Within five days after the tally of ballots has 
been furnished, any party may file with the board a 
statement of objections to the conduct of the election 
or conduct affecting the results of the election, with 
proof of service on all parties.  The statement shall 
be timely filed whether or not challenged ballots, if 
any, are sufficient in number to affect the results of 
the election. 
 (b)  Upon the filing of a statement of 
objections, the board shall conduct an investigation 
and, if appropriate and as may be required by chapter 
91, HRS, conduct a hearing. 
 (c)  An answer shall be filed with the board, and 
served upon all other parties, within five days after 
service of the statement of objections.  The answer 
shall contain a brief statement of facts refuting the 
objections.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §§89-6, 89-7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-84  Runoff election.  (a)  In any election 
where none of the choices on the ballot receives a 
majority of the votes cast, and no objections have 
been timely filed, the board shall conduct a runoff 
election.   
 (b)  The ballot in the runoff election shall 
provide for a selection between the two choices 
receiving the largest number of valid ballots cast. 
 (c)  The board may, in its discretion, maintain 
the same eligibility date or establish a new 
eligibility date.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§89-5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-6, 89-7) 
 
 
 



 

 
43-58 

 §12-43-85  Hearing on challenges or objections.  
Except as otherwise provided in this subchapter, the 
procedure for hearing on challenges or objections 
shall be governed by the provisions of subchapter 2. 
[Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS 
§§89-6, 89-7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-86  Certification of new election results.  
(a)  If the board overrules a challenge, each 
challenged ballot shall be opened and counted, and the 
board shall issue a revised tally of votes and issue a 
certification of the results of the election and a 
certification of exclusive bargaining representative. 
 (b)  If the board overrules the objections to the 
conduct of the election or the conduct affecting the 
results of the election, the board shall issue a 
certification of the results of the election and a 
certification of exclusive representative. 
 (c)  If the board sustains the challenge or 
objections, the board shall direct a new election to 
be held when it deems appropriate.  [Eff             
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-
6, 89-7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-87  Conclusive determination.  Decisions 
and orders of the board relating to determinations on 
any controversy concerning the eligibility of an 
employee to vote or concerning the designated dates, 
times, and places for the election shall be 
conclusive.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §§89-6, 89-7) 
 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 6 
 
 

CLARIFICATION OF BARGAINING UNIT 



 

 
43-59 

 
 
 

 §12-43-100  Scope.  This subchapter governs the 
procedure relating to the clarification of bargaining 
units pursuant to section 89-6, HRS.  [Eff            
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 89-6) (Imp:  
HRS §89-6) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-101  Petition.  (a)  A petition for 
clarification of an appropriate bargaining unit or 
amendment of certification may be filed by the 
affected exclusive bargaining representative, public 
employer, or public employee at any time. 
 (b)  The exclusive bargaining representative, 
public employer, or public employee shall file a 
petition where a position is to be excluded from 
collective bargaining on the basis that it is a top-
level managerial and administrative position or 
involved with confidential matters affecting employee-
employer relations; where a new class is established 
and assigned to a bargaining unit; where a new 
bargaining unit is established by law; or where there 
is controversy as to the appropriate bargaining unit 
status of a position. 
 (c)  The petition shall be prepared on a form 
furnished by the board.   
 (d)  The petition shall include the following: 
 (1)  The name, mailing address, telephone number, 

and affiliation, if any, of the petitioner, 
and sufficient information to allow for 
electronic filing by, and electronic service 
upon, the petitioner; 

 (2)  The name and mailing address of the public 
employer and exclusive bargaining 
representative involved, and the name and 
telephone number of their principal 
representatives to be contacted, if known; 

 (3)  A description of the appropriate bargaining  
  unit; 



 

 
43-60 

 (4)  The proposed clarification or amendment; 
 (5)  A statement setting forth reasons why  
  clarification or amendment is requested; 
 (6)  Whether the affected public employer and 

exclusive bargaining representative agree or 
disagree with the bargaining unit 
designation; and 

 (7)  A clear and concise statement of any other  
  relevant facts. 
 (e)  The petitioner shall attach a declaration to 
the petition which shall include sufficient facts as 
to the duties and responsibilities of the position and 
further attach as exhibits the position description, 
organization chart, class specifications, and other 
relevant documents in order that the board can rule on 
the petition.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-
5) (Imp:  HRS §89-6) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-102  Procedure.  Where it appears to the 
satisfaction of the board that there is no dispute 
among the interested parties, the board may issue its 
decision without further proceedings.  [Eff            
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-
6) 
 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 7 
 
 

RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES AND IMPASSES PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 89-11, HRS 

 
 
 

§12-43-110  Scope.  This subchapter governs the 
general procedures relating to mediation and 
arbitration in labor disputes pursuant to section 89-
11, HRS.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §89-11) 



 

 
43-61 

 
 
 
 §12-43-111  Policy.  It is the policy of the 
board to encourage parties to any labor dispute to 
voluntarily settle their differences; however, if the 
parties are unable to resolve their differences, the 
board shall assist the parties as required by law in 
resolving any labor dispute through mediation or 
arbitration to promote cooperative relations between 
government and its employees and to protect the public 
by assuring effective and orderly operations of 
government.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-
5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-1, 89-11) 
 
 
 

§12-43-112  Notice of impasse.  (a)  More than 
ninety days after written notice by either party to 
initiate negotiations, either party may give written 
notice to the board that an impasse exists by filing 
with the board a notice of impasse, with proof of 
service upon all parties.  The notice of impasse shall 
contain the following: 

(1)  A description of the appropriate bargaining  
unit and the approximate number of employees 
in the unit; 

 (2)  The dates and duration of negotiation  
sessions; 

 (3)  The termination date of the current  
agreement, if any; 

(4)  Whether the request is a joint request;  
(5)  Whether the parties have agreed on an  

alternate impasse procedure; and 
 (6)  A clear and concise statement of any other  

relevant facts.    
(b)  The date on which the board receives notice 

shall be the date of impasse.   
(c)  If neither party gives written notice of 

impasse and there are unresolved issues on January 31 
of a year in which the agreement is due to expire, the 
board shall declare on January 31 that an impasse 



 

 
43-62 

exists and February 1 shall be the date of impasse.    
[Eff                  ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS 
§89-11) 

 
 
 
§12-43-113  Alternate impasse procedure.  When an 

impasse exists, the parties shall notify the board if 
they have agreed on an alternate impasse procedure, 
and shall file with the board a copy of the alternate 
impasse procedure and any amendments thereto.  The 
board shall permit the parties to proceed with their 
procedure and assist at times and to the extent 
requested by the parties in their procedure.  In the 
absence of an alternate impasse procedure, the board 
shall assist in the resolution of impasse in the 
manner prescribed by this subchapter.  If the parties 
subsequently agree on an alternate impasse procedure, 
the parties shall immediately notify the board and 
file a copy with the board, and the board shall 
discontinue with the procedures initiated pursuant to 
this subchapter and allow the parties to proceed with 
the parties’ procedure.  [Eff                    ]  
(Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-11) 

 
 
 

 §12-43-114  Appointment of mediator.  (a)  If an 
impasse exists between a public employer and the 
exclusive bargaining representative of bargaining unit 
(1), nonsupervisory employees in blue collar 
positions; bargaining unit (5), teachers and other 
personnel of the department of education; or 
bargaining unit (7), faculty of the University of 
Hawaii system, the board shall assist as provided for 
in section 89-11(d), HRS. 
 (b)  If an impasse exists between a public 
employer and the exclusive representative of 
bargaining unit (2), supervisory employees in blue 
collar positions; bargaining unit (3), nonsupervisory 
employees in white collar positions; bargaining unit 
(4), supervisory employees in white collar positions; 



 

 
43-63 

bargaining unit (6), educational officers and other 
personnel of the department of education under the 
same salary schedule; bargaining unit (8), personnel 
of the University of Hawaii system, other than 
faculty; bargaining unit (9), registered professional 
nurses; bargaining unit (10), institutional, health, 
and correctional workers; bargaining unit (11), 
firefighters; bargaining unit (12), police officers; 
bargaining unit (13), professional and scientific 
employees; or bargaining unit (14), state law 
enforcement officers and state and county ocean safety 
and water safety officers, the board shall assist as 
provided for in section 89-11(e), HRS.  [Eff            
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-
11) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-115  Duties of mediator.  (a)  The 
mediator shall perform mediation duties under the 
guidance of the board and shall report any findings to 
the board.   

(b)  The mediator’s function shall be to assist 
the parties in arriving at a voluntary agreement. 

(c)  The mediator may hold separate or joint 
meetings with the parties or their representatives, 
and such meetings shall be private and nonpublic in 
nature. 

(d)  Mediation meetings shall be conducted at 
such time and place as may be designated by the 
mediator.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §89-11) 

 
 
 

 §12-43-116  Confidential information.  Any 
information disclosed by the parties to the mediator 
in the performance of the mediator’s duties shall not 
be divulged voluntarily or by compulsion, unless 
otherwise required by law.  All files, records, 
reports, or other papers received or prepared by a 
mediator while serving in such capacity shall be 



 

 
43-64 

treated as confidential, and the mediator shall not 
produce confidential records or testify in regard to 
mediation conducted by the mediator, on behalf of any 
party to a cause pending in any type of proceeding 
unless otherwise required by law.  [Eff                 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-
11) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-117  Report of mediator and parties.  (a)  
The mediator shall, either orally or in writing, 
report the progress of mediation efforts, as well as 
the terms of the settlement of the dispute, if any, if 
so requested by the board. 

(b)  The parties shall immediately report to the 
board the following circumstances as each occurs: 
 (1)  The date of a tentative agreement and  

whether the terms thereof are confidential 
between the parties, including the basis for 
a claim of confidentiality; 

 (2)  The ratification or failure of  
  ratification of a tentative agreement; 
 (3)  The signing of a tentative agreement; 
 (4)  The terms of a tentative agreement; or 
 (5)  On or about the fiftieth day of impasse,  
  the failure of mediation.  [Eff              
     ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-11) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-118  Notification of arbitration.  If an 
impasse exists between a public employer and the 
exclusive representative of bargaining unit (2), 
supervisory employees in blue collar positions; 
bargaining unit (3), nonsupervisory employees in white 
collar positions; bargaining unit (4), supervisory 
employees in white collar positions; bargaining unit 
(6), educational officers and other personnel of the 
department of education under the same salary 
schedule; bargaining unit (8), personnel of the 
University of Hawaii system, other than faculty; 



 

 
43-65 

bargaining unit (9), registered professional nurses; 
bargaining unit (10), institutional, health, and 
correctional workers; bargaining unit (11), 
firefighters; bargaining unit (12), police officers; 
bargaining unit (13), professional and scientific 
employees; or bargaining unit (14), state law 
enforcement officers and state and county ocean safety 
and water safety officers, and the impasse continues 
twenty days after the date of impasse, the board shall 
immediately notify the public employer and the 
exclusive representative that the impasse shall be 
submitted to a three-member arbitration panel. [Eff     
                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-
11) 

 
 
 
§12-43-119  Selection, qualification, and 

certification of interest arbitration panel pursuant 
to section 89-11(e)(2), HRS. (a) Two members of the    
arbitration panel shall be selected by the parties; 
one shall be selected by the public employer and one 
shall be selected by the exclusive representative.  

 (b) The neutral third member of the arbitration 
panel, who shall chair the arbitration panel, shall be 
selected by mutual agreement of the parties.  If the 
parties fail to select the neutral third member of the 
arbitration panel within thirty days from the date of 
impasse, the board shall request the American 
Arbitration Association, or its successor in function, 
to furnish a list of five qualified and experienced 
interest arbitrators from which the neutral arbitrator 
shall be selected.  Within five days after receipt of 
such list, the parties shall alternately strike names 
from the list until a single name is left, who shall 
be immediately appointed by the board as the neutral 
arbitrator and chair of the arbitration panel. 

(c)  Within five days of the selection of the 
neutral third member, the parties shall notify the 
board in writing of the selection and the names of the 
members, who shall be immediately appointed by the 
board as a member of the interest arbitration panel.  



 

 
43-66 

Upon appointment of all three members of the interest 
arbitration panel, the board shall serve a copy of its 
certification of appointment of such panel upon all 
parties and interest arbitration panel members.  

(d)  Any party may challenge the qualifications 
of a qualified interest arbitrator from the list by 
motion pursuant to section 12-43-21 filed 
electronically in the applicable case.  

(e)  Within one hundred twenty days of its 
appointment, the interest arbitration panel shall 
commence a hearing at which time the parties may 
submit, either in writing or through oral testimony, 
all information or data supporting their respective 
positions to the panel.  [Eff                 ] (Auth:  
HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-11) 

 
 

 
 §12-43-120  Findings and decision of interest 
arbitration panel.  Within thirty days after the 
conclusion of the hearing, the interest arbitration 
panel shall transmit a preliminary draft of its 
decision to the parties.  Within fifteen days after 
the transmittal of the preliminary draft, a majority 
of the interest arbitration panel shall issue the 
arbitration decision.  The interest arbitration panel 
shall file with the board all final findings and 
decisions of the panel, with proof of service upon all 
parties.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §89-11) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-121  Costs and expenses.  (a)  Costs and 
expenses for mediation provided for under this 
subchapter shall be borne by the board. 

(b)  The costs and expenses for any other 
services performed by neutrals pursuant to mutual 
agreement by the parties, including the costs for the 
neutral arbitrator, shall be borne equally by the 
parties.  All other costs incurred by either party, 
including the costs of its selected member of the 



 

 
43-67 

arbitration panel, shall be borne by the party 
incurring them.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§§89-5, 89-11) (Imp:  HRS §89-11) 

 
 
 
§12-43-122  Time frames.  Any time frame provided 

for in an impasse procedure, whether an alternate 
procedure or the procedures set forth in section 89-
11, HRS, as the same may be amended, may be modified 
by mutual agreement of the parties with written notice 
to the board.  In the absence of a mutual agreement to 
modify time frames, any delay, failure, or refusal by 
either party to participate in the impasse procedure 
shall not be permitted to halt or otherwise delay the 
process, unless the board so orders due to an 
unforeseeable circumstance.  The process shall 
commence or continue as though all parties were 
participating.  [Eff                  ]  (Auth: HRS  
§89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-11) 

 
 
  
§12-43-123  Closing of impasse cases.  (a) The 

parties are required to notify the board of the 
execution of any collective bargaining agreement 
arising out of an impasse case filed with the board.  
The board shall then issue a “Notice of Intent to 
Dismiss Impasse Case Because of Mootness” stating that 
the board will dismiss such impasse case because of 
mootness, unless it receives written notification from 
any party to the proceeding within ten days of the 
issuance of such notice, setting forth reasons why the 
case should not be dismissed. 

(b)  Ten days after issuance of such notice, if 
no objections to dismissal are received, the board 
shall issue an order dismissing the case.  [Eff           

            ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-
11) 
 
 
 



 

 
43-68 

SUBCHAPTER 8 
 
 

PROCEDURES RELATING TO STRIKES – 
RIGHTS AND PROHIBITIONS 

 
 
 
 §12-43-130  Scope.  (a)  This subchapter governs 
the general procedures relating to employee 
participation in a strike or to a strike about to 
occur or in progress, declared or authorized by an 
exclusive representative pursuant to section 89-12, 
HRS.  Section 12-43-131 shall also be applicable to 
employees or representatives subject to the provisions 
of section 377-12, HRS.  

(b)  This subchapter shall not infringe on any 
party’s right to institute appropriate proceedings in 
the circuit court.  [Eff                  ]  (Auth:  
HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-12, 89-14, 377-12)   
 
 
 
 §12-43-131  Notice of intent to strike.  (a)  The 
exclusive representative, or the employees or 
representative subject to section 377-12, HRS, shall 
give a ten-day notice of intent to strike to the 
employer and the board, including a statement of its 
position on all remaining issues in dispute. 

(b)  Within three days of receipt of the notice 
of intent to strike, the employer shall submit its own 
position on remaining issues in dispute. 

(c)  The board shall release information on the 
parties’ respective positions to the public by posting 
to the board’s website.  [Eff                  ]  
(Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-12, 377-12) 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 9 
 
 



 

 
43-69 

REVIEW OF DUES REFUND 
 
 
 
 §12-43-140  Scope.  (a)  This subchapter governs 
the procedures for the review of the amount to be 
refunded to a nonmember employee by an exclusive 
representative pursuant to section 89-4, HRS. 

(b)  The provisions of subchapter 2 shall govern 
review of dues refund proceedings, except as otherwise 
modified in this subchapter.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-4) 
 
 
 

§12-43-141  Petition for review.  (a)  A 
nonmember employee who objects to the amount to be 
refunded by an exclusive representative may petition 
the board for a review thereof within fifteen days 
after receiving notice of the amount of refund from 
the exclusive representative. 
 (b)  At hearing, the exclusive representative 
shall bear the burden of production of evidence and 
the burden of proof of the validity of its proposed 
refund. 

(c)  The petition shall be prepared on a form 
furnished by the board.   

(d)  The petition shall contain the following: 
(1)  The name, address, telephone number, and 

e-mail address of the petitioner; 
(2)  The bargaining unit of the petitioner; 
(3)  The name, mailing address, and telephone  

  number of the exclusive representative   
  against whom the petition is filed; 

(4)  The name, mailing address, and telephone  
  number of the public employer; 

(5)  A statement of the amount deducted from the  
payroll of the nonmember employee which is 
equivalent to regular dues; 

(6)  A statement of the amount to be refunded by  
the exclusive representative; 

(7)  The date the notice of refund was received  



 

 
43-70 

by the nonmember employee; 
(8)  A complete statement of the reasons for  

objections to the amount of refund and any 
relevant underlying facts; and 

(9)  The signature of the petitioner or the  
petitioner’s representative. 

(e)  Any person claiming an interest in the 
review as a public employee, employee organization, or 
party in interest may intervene pursuant to section 
12-43-19. 

(f)  Upon the filing of a petition under this 
subchapter, the board shall serve a copy of the 
petition upon the respondent.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-4) 

 
 
 
§12-43-142  Answer.  (a)  The respondent shall 

file a written answer with the board within ten days 
after service of a copy of the petition, along with 
certificate of service on all parties. 

(b)  The answer shall contain the following: 
(1)  A specific admission, denial, or explanation  

of each allegation of the petition, or, if 
the respondent is without knowledge thereof, 
the respondent shall so state and the 
statement shall constitute a denial.  
Admissions or denials may be made to all or 
part of the allegation, but shall fairly 
meet the substance of the allegation; 

(2)  A specific detailed statement of any  
affirmative defense; and 

(3)  A clear and concise statement of the facts  
and matters of law relied upon constituting 
the grounds for defense. 

(c)  In extraordinary circumstances as determined 
by the board, the board may extend the time within 
which the answer shall be filed upon motion filed by 
the respondent with an accompanying declaration 
setting forth the grounds upon which the motion is 
based and indicating the position of the other parties 
with regard to the extension.  Any motion for 



 

 
43-71 

extension shall be filed before the expiration of the 
required period for filing an answer. 

(d)  If an exclusive representative is named as a 
respondent and fails to timely file an answer, that 
failure shall constitute an admission of the material 
facts alleged in the petition and a waiver of a 
hearing thereon. 

(e)  If a nonmember employee is named as a 
respondent and fails to timely file an answer, the 
board shall grant an exclusive representative’s 
petition if there has been a prima facie showing that 
its assessments are correct and permitted by law.  
[Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS 
§89-4) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-143  Decision and order.  In the 
disposition of petitions filed under this subchapter, 
the board may: 

(1)  Dismiss the petition; or 
(2)  Find that the exclusive representative has 

not returned to the nonmember employee, a 
pro rata share of expenditures made by the 
exclusive representative for activities of a 
political and ideological nature unrelated 
to the terms and conditions of employment, 
and issue an order directing the exclusive 
representative to appropriately adjust the 
amounts to be refunded; and 

 (3)  Award such other relief as the board deems  
  just.  [Eff                  ]  (Auth: HRS   
  §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-4) 
 

 
 

SUBCHAPTER 10 
 
 

FINANCIAL REPORTS OF EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATIONS 
 
 



 

 
43-72 

 
 §12-43-150  Scope.  (a)  This subchapter governs 
the general procedures relating to an employee 
organization’s and representative's (any 
representative of employees for collective bargaining 
subject to chapter 377, HRS) financial reports to its 
members pursuant to sections 89-15 and 377-10, HRS, 
respectively.  

(b)  The provisions of subchapter 2 shall govern 
financial reports of employee organization and 
representative proceedings, except as otherwise 
modified in this subchapter.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§89-15, 377-
10) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-151  Petition.  (a)  If an employee 
organization fails to comply with section 89-15, HRS, 
any employee included in the bargaining unit may 
petition the board for an order compelling compliance. 
 (b)  If a representative fails to comply with 
section 377-10, HRS, any employee who is a member of 
the association with which the representative is 
associated may petition the board for an order 
compelling compliance. [Eff                  ]  (Auth:  
HRS §§89-5, 377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§89-15, 377-10) 
 
 

 
 §12-43-152  Answer.  (a)  Within ten days after 
service of the petition, the employee organization or 
representative shall file with the board a written 
answer and serve the petitioner with its answer and 
certify the same in an attached certificate of 
service. 

(b)  The answer shall include specific 
admissions, denials, or explanations of each 
allegation contained in the petition.  

(c)  If the employee organization or 
representative fails to timely file an answer, such 
failure shall constitute an admission of the material 



 

 
43-73 

facts alleged in the petition and a waiver of hearing.  
[Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11) 
(Imp:  HRS §§89-15, 377-10) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-153  Decision and order.  The board may 
dismiss the petition, or order the employee 
organization or representative to make available to 
its members a certified written financial statement.  
[Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11) 
(Imp:  HRS §§89-15, 377-10) 
 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 11 
 
 

RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES CONCERNING COST ITEMS 
 
 
 

 §12-43-160  Scope.  This subchapter governs the 
general procedures for the resolution of any dispute 
concerning cost items pursuant to section 89-5, HRS.  
[Eff                  ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS   
§89-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-161  Jurisdiction of the board.  
Jurisdiction of the board to resolve any dispute 
concerning cost items shall be limited to the 
determination of whether the matter in dispute is or 
is not a cost item and shall be processed upon 
petition by any exclusive bargaining representative or 
public employer pursuant to the provisions set forth 
in the subchapter relating to declaratory rulings.  
[Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS 
§89-5) 
 
 



 

 
43-74 

 
SUBCHAPTER 12 

 
 

REFERENCE MATERIALS 
 
 
 
 §12-43-170  Scope.  This subchapter governs the 
filing of all reference materials pertaining to public 
employee-management relations pursuant to section 89-
5, HRS.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §89-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-171  Collective bargaining agreement.  
Public employers and employee organizations shall file 
with the board a copy of all collective bargaining 
agreements applicable to their respective employees 
and members, including supplemental agreements, 
memoranda of agreement, and memoranda of 
understanding, where such agreements concern wages, 
hours, or other terms and conditions of employment 
which are subject to collective bargaining, within 
thirty days after the agreement is executed by the 
parties.  Agreements on reopened items and agreements 
to extend a collective bargaining agreement shall be 
included as documents required to be filed by this 
section.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §89-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-172  Statutes, ordinances, rules, 
regulations, orders, and policies.  Upon request from 
the board, a public employer and an employee 
organization shall file with the board a copy of 
statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, or 
policy statements affecting public employee-management 
relations applicable to all employees of such public 



 

 
43-75 

employer.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §89-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-173  Information and data.  Upon request 
from the board, a public employer or employee 
organization shall file with the board information and 
data pertaining to public employee-management 
relations necessary for the board to carry out its 
functions and responsibilities pursuant to chapter 89, 
HRS.  [Eff                  ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) 
(Imp:  HRS §89-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-174  Statistical data.  Upon request from 
the board, a public employer or an employee 
organization shall file with the board, no later than 
July 1 of every year, statistical data relating to the 
number of collective bargaining unit employees 
employed by that employer or a member of that employee 
organization, and wages, benefits, and employment 
practices in public employment.  [Eff                ]  
(Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-5) 
 
 
 

§12-43-175  Penalties.  The failure, without 
good cause shown, to comply with any section of this 
subchapter may result in the imposition of monetary 
penalties and the imposition of other sanctions. [Eff    
               ]  (Auth:  HRS §89-5) (Imp:  HRS §89-5) 
 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 13 
 
 

STREAMLINING UNION CERTIFICATION 
 
 



 

 
43-76 

 
§12-43-180  Scope of streamlining union 

certification.  This subchapter governs the general 
procedure relating to selection and certification of 
an exclusive representative for the purposes of 
collective bargaining pursuant to section 377-4.6, 
HRS.  [Eff                  ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-4.6) 
(Imp:  HRS §377-4.6) 

 
 
 

§12-43-181  Definitions. As used in this 
subchapter:  
   “Appropriate unit” means a unit that is 
appropriate for the purposes of collective bargaining 
and that is the subject of a petition filed pursuant 
to this subchapter.  

“Exclusive representative” means an individual or 
labor organization certified by the board under 
section 377-4.6, HRS, as the exclusive collective 
bargaining agent to represent all employees in an 
appropriate unit without discrimination and without 
regard to employee organization membership.  

“Petition” means a petition that is filed 
pursuant to this subchapter. [Eff                   ]  
(Auth:  HRS §377-4.6) (Imp:  HRS §377-4.6)  

 
 
 

§12-43-182  Streamlining union certification.  
(a)  An employee, group of employees, or any 
individual or labor organization acting on their 
behalf may collect signed valid authorization cards 
from employees as defined in section 377-4.6(c), HRS, 
designating the individual or labor organization as 
their exclusive representative.  

(b) The authorizations shall include the 
following: 

(1) The full name, address, and job title of the 
employee;  

(2) The name and address of the employer;  



 

 
43-77 

(3) The identification of the individual or 
labor organization that is collecting 
authorization cards as the exclusive 
representative;  

(4) An indication that the employee designates 
the individual or labor organization as his 
or her exclusive representative;  

(5) A statement that by signing the card, the 
employee is acknowledging that if a majority 
of the employee’s co-workers in an 
appropriate unit sign similar cards showing 
majority support, the card may be used by 
the individual or labor organization to 
obtain certification as the employees’ 
exclusive representative without an election 
similar to that under section 377-1, HRS;  

(6) An acknowledgement by the employee that the 
information given to the employee is in a 
language understandable to the employee;  

(7) The declaration of the employee that the 
information contained in the authorization 
cards is true and correct; and  

(8) The legible signature or mark of the 
employee, and if using a mark a signature of 
a witness, and the date of the signature or 
mark.  [Eff                  ]  (Auth:  HRS 

  §377-4.6) (Imp:  HRS §377-4.6)  
 
 
 

§12-43-183  Application of streamlining union 
certification.  Streamlining union certification under 
section 377-4.6, HRS, shall apply to an employee as 
defined under section 377-1, HRS, provided that the 
employee is employed by an employer with annual gross 
revenue of more than $5,000,000.  The annual gross 
revenue of an employer shall mean revenue derived by 
the employer from all sources, including parents, 
subsidiaries, and other affiliates wherever located 
based upon financial statements in the preceding 
fiscal year or, if the employer has operated for less 
than one year, based upon the actual or projected 



 

 
43-78 

annual gross revenue reasonably projected by the board 
of that employer.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§377-4.6) (Imp:  HRS §377-4.6)  

 
 
 
§12-43-184  Filing of petition.  An employee, 

group of employees, or any individual or labor 
organization acting on their behalf seeking 
certification as the exclusive representative shall 
file a petition on a form furnished by the board, and 
include the following:  

(1) The full names, addresses, email addresses, 
and affiliation, if any, of the petitioner, 
and the name and telephone number of its 
principal representative to be contacted;  

(2) The name and address of the employer, the 
general nature of the business, the number 
of employees constituting the appropriate 
unit, and annual gross revenue of the 
employer;  

(3) A full description of the appropriate unit, 
including the job classifications or 
positions of employees sought to be included 
and excluded and the approximate number of 
employees in the appropriate unit;  

(4) The name and address of any known persons or 
organizations that claim to represent any of 
the employees in the appropriate unit;  

(5) An allegation that no other individual or 
labor organization is currently certified or 
recognized as the exclusive representative 
of any of the employees in the appropriate 
unit;  

(6) An allegation that more than fifty per cent 
of the employees within the appropriate unit 
have designated the petitioner as their 
exclusive representative;  

(7) An allegation that the employer of the 
appropriate unit has an annual gross revenue 
of more than $5,000,000; and  



 

 
43-79 

(8) Any other relevant facts pertinent to the 
petition.  

A petition may be withdrawn at any time before 
the issuance of a final order of the board.  [Eff       

            ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-4.6) (Imp:  HRS 
§377-4.6)  
 
 
 

§12-43-185  Notice of petition.  (a)  Upon the 
filing of the petition, written notice thereof with a 
copy of the petition shall be sent by the board to the 
employer and other interested parties.  The notice 
shall include the date when the petition was filed, 
the name and address of the petitioner, the name and 
address of the employer involved, a description of the 
appropriate unit, and a statement that parties and 
interested persons shall have fourteen days from the 
date of the notice to file:  

(1) Objections to the allegation that the 
employer has annual gross revenues of more 
than $5,000,000;  

(2) Objections to the description of the 
appropriate unit, including the job 
classifications or positions to be included 
or excluded from the appropriate unit and 
the approximate number of employees in the 
appropriate unit;  

(3) Objections to the petitioner’s designation 
of the question regarding representation 
that has arisen; or  

(4) A petition to intervene pursuant to the 
provisions of subchapter 2 of these rules, 
in so far as it applies. 

(b)  The employer shall post the notice where 
notices are normally posted affecting all employees in 
the appropriate unit not less than three days after 
receipt of the notice.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  
HRS §377-4.6) (Imp:  HRS §377-4.6)  
 
 
 



 

 
43-80 

§12-43-186  Investigation of petition.  (a)  Upon 
the filing of the petition, the board or the hearings 
officer shall investigate whether:  

(1) Petitioner has collected valid authorization 
cards from more than fifty per cent of the 
employees in an appropriate unit designating 
petitioner as their exclusive representative 
for collective bargaining purposes;  

(2) There is agreement among the parties 
regarding the composition of the appropriate 
unit;  

(3) The employer earns annual gross revenues of 
more than $5,000,000; and  

(4) There is no other individual or labor 
organization that is certified or recognized 
as the exclusive representative of any of 
the employees in the appropriate unit.  

(b)  Pursuant to the investigation, the board or  
the hearings officer may ask the employer to submit: 

(1) Information showing the nature of the 
employer’s business and its revenues;  

(2) Existing or recently expired collective 
bargaining agreements, if any;  

(3) An alphabetized list of all employees in the 
appropriate unit with their full names, 
addresses, and job classifications who are 
or were employed by the employer within the 
six months immediately preceding the 
petition’s filing date;  

(4) Copies of the W-4 forms for each employee 
included on the alphabetized list above;  

(5) An alphabetized list of all employees in the 
appropriate unit with their full names, 
addresses, and job classifications who were 
employed as of the petition’s filing date; 
and  

(6) Any other information relevant to the 
investigation.  

  (c)  Pursuant to the investigation, the board or 
the hearings officer shall request that the petitioner 
submit:   



 

 
43-81 

(1)  The original of each authorization card 
collected under the “Streamlining Union 
Certification” section above; provided that  

 (A)  The authorization card shall be valid 
only if signed within six months before  
the filing of the petition; and  

 (B)  The board or hearings officer will not 
accept copies of a signed authorization 
card;  

(2)  A declaration authenticating that such 
authorization cards are valid and attesting 
to the following:  
(A) The declarant’s personal knowledge or 

inquiries that the declarant has made 
that the persons whose names appear on 
the authorization cards have personally 
signed or marked their own cards on the 
dates specified thereon as provided in 
the “Streamlining Union Certification” 
section above;  

(B) That the persons specified as members 
of the appropriate unit are or were 
employees of the appropriate unit 
during the six-month period immediately 
preceding the petition’s filing date; 
and  

(C) If the declaration is based upon 
inquiries the declarant has made, 
rather than upon personal knowledge, 
the declarant shall specify the nature 
of those inquiries; and  

(3)  Any other information relevant to the 
investigation.  

 (d)  Responses to requests made under subsections 
(b) and (c) herein shall be made within ten days of 
the receipt of the requests unless an extension of 
time is granted by the board or hearings officer for 
good cause shown.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§377-4.6) (Imp:  HRS §377-4.6) 
 
 
 



 

 
43-82 

§12-43-187  Notice of hearing.  After the 
investigation, if it appears to the board or hearings 
officer that a hearing is warranted, the board or 
hearings officer shall issue notice of hearing upon 
the parties, electronically or via first class mail, 
at least fifteen days before the hearing and shall set 
the time and place of such hearing.  The board or 
hearings officer may notice and hold a prehearing 
conference.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-
5.1, 377-4.6) (Imp:  HRS §377-4.6) 

 
 
 
§12-43-188  Eligibility and validity of 

authorization.  (a)  The validity of the signatures 
appearing on the authorization cards shall be 
determined administratively by the board or hearings 
officer.  A signature appearing on an authorization 
card filed in compliance with these rules shall be 
presumed valid.  

(b)  The board and hearings officer shall 
maintain the confidentiality of all signatures and 
identities appearing on authorization cards.  The 
authorization cards shall not be shown or furnished to 
any of the parties after acceptance by the board or 
hearings officer and shall be destroyed when the file 
is closed notwithstanding any other rule to the 
contrary.  

(c)  A board or hearings officer’s finding of the 
eligibility of an employee to sign an authorization 
card or of the validity of the signature of the 
employee on an authorization card, or both, shall be 
dispositive of the issue and not subject to litigation 
or collateral attack, except upon sufficient evidence 
that the signature was obtained improperly through 
fraud or coercion.  If there is a dispositive finding 
by the board or hearings officer that the employee is 
eligible to sign an authorization card and that the 
signature of the employee on an authorization card is 
valid, the authorization of the employee shall be 
counted toward the final determination of 
certification by the board or the hearings officer 



 

 
43-83 

conducting the investigation.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §377-4.6) (Imp:  HRS §377-4.6)  
  
 
 
 §12-43-189  Decision and order.  (a)  Following 
the hearing, the board or hearings officer shall issue 
a decision and order determining whether:  

(1) The employer has annual gross revenues of 
more than $5,000,000;  

(2) No other individual or labor organization is 
certified or recognized as the exclusive 
representative of any of the employees in 
the unit; and  

(3) A majority of the employees in the 
appropriate unit have signed valid 
authorizations designating the individual or 
labor organization specified in the petition 
as their bargaining representative.  

(b) If the board or hearings officer determines 
that any of these requirements set forth under 
subsection (a) are not met, the petition shall be 
dismissed.  

(c) If the hearing is held before a hearings 
officer, the decision and order rendered thereon shall 
be a recommended decision subject to the filing of 
exceptions and board review.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §377-4.6) (Imp:  HRS §377-4.6)  
 
 
 

§12-43-190  Certification of representative.  
Upon a finding by the board or hearings officer that 
all of the requirements for certification by 
authorization cards have been satisfied, the board 
shall certify the petitioner as the exclusive 
representative of the appropriate unit.  The board 
shall issue a copy of the certificate to the employer 
and so notify the parties.  [Eff                   ]  
(Auth:  HRS §377-4.6) (Imp:  HRS §377-4.6) 
 

 



 

 
43-84 

 
SUBCHAPTER 14 

 
 

ELECTION OF BARGAINING 
REPRESENTATIVES IN PRIVATE EMPLOYMENT 

 
 
 

§12-43-200  Scope.  (a)  This subchapter governs 
the general procedure relating to determination of an 
appropriate bargaining unit, election of an exclusive 
bargaining representative, and decertification of an 
exclusive bargaining representative in private 
employment pursuant to section 377-5, HRS. 

(b)  The provisions of subchapter 2 shall govern 
election of bargaining representatives in private 
employment proceedings insofar as they may be 
applicable, or as otherwise modified by this 
subchapter.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-
11) (Imp:  HRS §377-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-201  Determination of collective 
bargaining unit and election of collective bargaining 
representative.  A petition for determination of a 
collective bargaining unit and election of collective 
bargaining representative pursuant to section 377-5(b) 
and (c), HRS, may be filed by an employee, group of 
employees, an individual or labor organization acting 
in their behalf, or an employer in the case of 
jurisdictional disputes, or where a union has 
requested recognition.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  
HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS §377-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-202  Petition.  (a)  The petition shall be 
prepared on a form furnished by the board, and filed 
with the board. 
 (b)  The petition shall include the following: 



 

 
43-85 

 (1)  The name, mailing address, telephone number, 
and affiliation, if any, of the petitioner, 
and sufficient information to allow for 
electronic filing by, and electronic service 
upon, the petitioner; 

 (2)  The name and mailing address of the 
employer, the general nature of the 
business, and the approximate number of 
employees; 

 (3)  A description of the bargaining unit claimed  
to be appropriate and the approximate number 
of employees constituting the unit; 

 (4)  The names and mailing addresses of any known 
  persons or organizations that claim to   
  represent any of the employees in the   
  alleged bargaining unit;  
 (5)  A brief statement setting forth the nature 

of the question that has arisen concerning 
representation; an appropriate showing that 
thirty per cent or more of the employees 
within a bargaining unit claimed to be 
appropriate have selected the collective 
bargaining representative to represent them; 
and 

 (6)  Any other relevant facts pertinent to the  
petition.  [Eff                ]  (Auth: 
HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS §377-5) 

 
 
 
 §12-43-203  Hearing to determine bargaining unit.  
If it appears to the board that the petition presents 
a question concerning the determination of a 
collective bargaining unit, the board shall hold a 
hearing upon notice to all parties.  The hearing 
procedure shall be governed by the provisions of 
subchapter 2.  The board shall determine the facts 
necessary for the determination of the appropriate 
bargaining unit.  Upon completion of the hearing, the 
board shall issue a decision regarding the appropriate 
bargaining unit.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§377-11) (Imp:  HRS §377-5) 



 

 
43-86 

 
 
 
 §12-43-204  Pre-election conference, stipulation 
for consent election, hearing, and elections.  If the 
board finds that the petition presents a question 
concerning representation, a pre-election conference 
shall be held between the interested parties, and the 
parties may enter into a stipulation for consent 
election, as prescribed by the board.  The board or 
its agents shall conduct the election in accordance 
with the stipulation.  If no stipulation is entered 
into, the board may hold a hearing, after notice of 
the hearing to all parties.  At the hearing, the board 
shall determine the facts necessary to conduct the 
election.  If, upon completion of the hearing, the 
board concludes that a secret ballot election shall be 
held, it may direct that an election be conducted in 
the appropriate collective bargaining unit upon the 
terms as it may specify.  The form of ballot to be 
used in any election shall be prepared as prescribed 
in section 377-5(c), HRS.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp: HRS §377-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-205  Certification of election.  
Immediately following the election, the board shall 
make findings and certify the results of the election 
to the employer and the parties to the proceedings 
(election certification).  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS §377-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-206  Election results and objections.  Any 
party to the proceeding may file objections to the 
conduct of the election or conduct affecting the 
results of the election within five days after receipt 
of a copy of the election certification.  The 
objections shall be in writing and contain a brief 
statement of the facts upon which the objections are 



 

 
43-87 

based.  The original, with proof of service upon all 
parties, shall be signed and filed with the board.  
The board may hold a hearing upon due notice and shall 
decide the validity of the objections before 
proceeding to a final determination.  [Eff            
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS 
§377-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-207  Challenged ballots.  If a dispute 
arises in an election concerning the eligibility of a 
particular employee to vote therein, the ballot of the 
employee may be challenged by the board agent 
conducting the election or an authorized observer.  
Each challenged ballot shall be placed in an 
individually marked envelope.  If the challenged 
ballots are necessary for a final determination, the 
board may hold a hearing upon due notice, and shall 
decide the eligibility of the employee.  [Eff         
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS 
§377-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-208  Runoff election.  (a)  The board 
shall conduct a runoff election in any election where 
no choice on the ballot receives a majority of valid 
votes cast.  The runoff ballot shall provide for 
selection between the two choices receiving the 
largest and second largest number of valid votes cast 
in the election. 
 (b)  Employees who were eligible to vote in the 
election and who are in an eligible category on the 
date of the runoff election shall be eligible to vote 
in the runoff election.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS §377-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-209  Petition for decertification.  (a)  A 
petition for decertification may be filed by an 



 

 
43-88 

employee, an employee organization, or anyone 
authorized to act in its behalf.  
 (b)  The petition shall be prepared on a form 
furnished by the board, and filed with the board. 
 (c)  The petition shall include the following: 
 (1)  The name, mailing address, telephone number, 

and affiliation, if any, of the petitioner, 
and sufficient information to allow for 
electronic filing by, and electronic service 
upon, the petitioner and the name and 
telephone number of its principal 
representative to be contacted; 

 (2)  The name, mailing address, telephone number, 
and affiliation, if any, of the exclusive 
representative; and the name, address, and 
telephone number of the principal 
representative, and the date of 
certification; 

 (3)  The name, address, and telephone number of  
the employer and the name and telephone 
number of its principal representative to be 
contacted; 

 (4)  The approximate number of employees in the  
  bargaining unit; 
 (5)  A description of the appropriate bargaining  
  unit, specifying inclusions and exclusions; 
 (6)  Whether the employer is a party to a 

contract for the affected employees; 
 (7)  A showing of interest indicating that thirty  

per cent or more of the employees in the 
unit support the petition; and 

 (8)  A clear and concise statement of any other  
  relevant facts. 
 (d)  If the board finds that the petition 
presents a question of representation, the matter will 
be processed in accordance with sections 12-43-220 
through 12-43-223.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  
HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS §377-5) 
 
 
 

 



 

 
43-89 

SUBCHAPTER 15 
 
 

REFERENDUM CONCERNING ALL-UNION AGREEMENT 
 
 
 

 §12-43-220  Scope.  This subchapter governs the 
procedure relating to all-union agreements defined in 
section 377-1, HRS.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  
HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS §377-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-221  Authority for all-union agreement.  
An employer may enter into an all-union agreement with 
the bargaining representative of the employees in a 
collective bargaining unit, unless the board has 
certified that a majority of employees has acted to 
rescind the authority of the bargaining representative 
to negotiate an all-union agreement within one year 
preceding the date of the agreement.  [Eff             
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS 
§377-5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-222  Rescission of authority and petition.  
(a)  A petition to rescind the authority of a labor 
organization to make an all-union agreement requiring 
membership in the labor organization as a condition of 
employment may be filed by an employee or group of 
employees on behalf of thirty per cent or more of the 
employees in a bargaining unit covered by an 
agreement.  An original of the petition shall be filed 
with the board. 
 (b)  The petition shall include: 
 (1)  The name, address, telephone number, and 

email address of the petitioner; 
 (2)  The name and address of the employer, the  

general nature of the business, and the 
approximate number of employees; 



 

 
43-90 

 (3)  A description of the appropriate bargaining  
unit or the bargaining unit claimed to be 
appropriate, and the approximate number of 
employees within the unit; 

 (4)  The name and address of the labor  
organization whose authority it is desired 
to rescind; 

 (5)  An appropriate showing that thirty per cent  
or more of employees within an appropriate 
unit desire to rescind the authority of the 
labor organization involved; and 

 (6)  Any other facts that are relevant to the  
petition.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  
HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS §377-5) 

 
 
 
§12-43-223  Election to rescind authority and 

hearing.  Where a petition has been filed and the 
petitioner has made an appropriate showing to the 
board that thirty per cent or more of the employees 
within the unit covered by the agreement desire to 
rescind the authority of the labor organization to 
make an agreement, the board shall conduct a secret 
ballot election of the employees involved on their 
desire to rescind.  Where it appears to the board that 
the proceeding raises a question which cannot be 
decided without a hearing, the board may issue a 
notice of hearing upon the parties in conformance with 
the applicable provisions in subchapter 2.  The board 
shall fix the time and place of the election, 
eligibility requirement for voting, and other 
arrangements of the balloting, but the parties may 
enter into an agreement, subject to the approval of 
the board, fixing such arrangements.  In any consent 
agreements, provisions may be made for final 
determination of all questions arising with respect to 
the balloting.  [Eff                  ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§377-11) (Imp:  HRS §377-5) 

 
 
 



 

 
43-91 

§12-43-224  Hearing.  The hearing shall be 
governed pursuant to the applicable provisions in 
subchapter 2.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§377-11) (Imp:  HRS §377-5) 

 
 
 
§12-43-225  Balloting and post-balloting 

procedures.  The election shall be governed insofar as 
applicable by the provisions of subchapters 6 and 14.  
[Eff                  ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  
HRS §377-5)  
 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 16 
 
 

FACILITATING INITIAL COLLECTIVE  
BARGAINING AGREEMENTS, AND CONCILIATION 

 
 
 
 §12-43-230  Scope.  This subchapter governs 
conciliation and facilitating initial collective 
bargaining agreements in private employment pursuant 
to chapter 377, Hawaii Revised Statutes.  [Eff          
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS 
§§377-3, 377-4.7) 
 
 
 

§12-43-231  Request to bargain.  An individual or 
labor organization that has been newly organized or 
certified as the exclusive representative may submit 
to the employer a written request to bargain over an 
initial collective bargaining agreement.  Within ten 
days after the employer’s receipt of the request to 
bargain, the parties shall meet and commence 
bargaining collectively in good faith.  The parties 
shall make every reasonable effort to conclude and 
sign a collective bargaining agreement.  [Eff  



 

 
43-92 

            ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS 
§377-4.7)  
 
 
 

§12-43-232  Notice of dispute and request for 
conciliation.  More than ninety days after the date on 
which bargaining over an initial collective bargaining 
agreement commenced, or such additional period as the 
parties agree upon, if the parties have failed to 
reach an agreement, either party may notify the board 
of the dispute by filing a written notice of dispute 
and request for conciliation.  The employer or 
exclusive bargaining representative shall file an 
original of the notice of dispute, with proof of 
service upon all parties.  [Eff                   ]   
(Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§377-3, 377-4.7)  
 
 
 

§12-43-233  Contents of notice.  The notice of 
dispute shall contain the following:  

(1) The names, addresses, telephone numbers, and 
email addresses of the parties to the 
dispute and their principal representatives;  

(2) A description of the appropriate unit and 
the approximate number of employees 
constituting the unit;  

(3) The dates and duration of negotiation 
sessions, if any;  

(4) The name of the party or parties requesting 
conciliation; and  

(5) A clear and concise statement of any other 
relevant facts.  [Eff                ]  
(Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§377-3, 
377-4.7)  

 
 
 

§12-43-234  Board determination of jurisdiction  
and the possibility of settlement and termination of 
dispute.  Upon receiving notice of a labor dispute 



 

 
43-93 

regarding the failure to reach an initial collective 
bargaining agreement involving a newly organized or 
certified representative, or upon receiving 
information that any other labor dispute within the 
board’s jurisdiction exits, the board shall determine 
whether the possibility of settlement and termination 
of the dispute may be increased by conciliation.  [Eff   

           ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS 
§§377-3, 377-4.7)  
 
 
 

§12-43-235  Appointment of conciliator.  If the 
board determines that the labor dispute is within its 
jurisdiction and that the possibility of settlement 
and termination of the dispute may be increased by 
conciliation, the board shall notify the governor, who 
shall immediately appoint a conciliator.  The governor 
shall so notify the board of the appointment of a 
conciliator.  Upon receipt of notice of the 
appointment, the board shall refer the dispute to the 
conciliator.  [Eff                  ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§377-3, 377-4.7)  

 
 
 

§12-43-236  Duties of conciliator.  (a)  The 
conciliator shall perform conciliation duties under 
the guidance of the board and shall report any 
findings to the board.  

(b)  If the dispute involves the failure to reach 
an initial collective bargaining agreement involving a 
newly organized or certified representative, the 
conciliator shall use his or her best efforts to 
resolve the dispute within twenty days immediately 
succeeding the date upon which the request for 
conciliation was made, or such additional time as is 
agreed upon by all parties to the dispute.  If the 
conciliator is not able to resolve the dispute within 
the required period, the conciliator shall immediately 
certify such fact to the board, and the board shall 
refer the dispute to a three-member arbitration panel 



 

 
43-94 

established in accordance with section 89-11(e)(2)(A), 
HRS.   

(c)  For any other labor dispute, the conciliator 
shall use his or her best efforts to resolve the 
dispute within ten days immediately succeeding the 
reference of the dispute to the conciliator or within 
such additional time, not to exceed ten days, as is 
agreed upon by all parties to the dispute.  If the 
conciliator is not able to resolve the dispute within 
the required period, the conciliator shall immediately 
certify such fact to the board, and the board shall so 
notify the governor. 

(d)  The conciliator may hold separate or joint 
meetings with the parties or their representatives, 
which shall be private and nonpublic in nature.  

(e)  Conciliation meetings shall be conducted at 
such time and place as may be designated by the 
conciliator.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§377-3, 377-4.7)  
 
 
 

§12-43-237  Confidential information.  (a)  Any 
information disclosed by the parties to the 
conciliator in the performance of such conciliator’s 
duties shall not be divulged voluntarily or by 
compulsion.  

(b)  All files, records, reports, or other papers 
received or prepared by a conciliator while serving in 
such capacity shall be treated as confidential.  The 
conciliator shall not produce any confidential records 
of or testify regarding any conciliation conducted by 
such conciliator, on behalf of any party to any cause 
pending in any type of proceeding, unless otherwise 
required by law.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§377-3, 377-4.7)  
 
 
 

§12-43-238  Report of conciliator.  The 
conciliator shall, either orally or in writing, report 
the progress of conciliation efforts, as well as the 



 

 
43-95 

terms of the termination or resolution of the dispute, 
if any, when so requested by the board.  [Eff           
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS 
§§377-3, 377-4.7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-239  Selection and certification of 
arbitration panel.  (a) Two members of the arbitration 
panel shall be selected by the parties; one shall be 
selected by the employer and one shall be selected by 
the exclusive representative.  The neutral third 
member of the arbitration panel, who shall chair the 
arbitration panel, shall be selected by mutual 
agreement of the parties.  If the parties fail to 
select the neutral third member of the arbitration 
panel within thirty days from the date of the labor 
dispute, the board shall request the American 
Arbitration Association, or its successor in function, 
to furnish a list of five qualified arbitrators from 
which the neutral arbitrator shall be selected.   
 (b)  Within five days after receipt of the list, 
the parties shall alternately strike names from the 
list until a single name is left, and that arbitrator 
named shall be immediately appointed by the board as 
the neutral arbitrator and chair of the arbitration 
panel, and the board shall serve a copy of its 
certification of appointment of the panel upon all 
parties.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) 
(Imp:  HRS §§89-11, 377-4.7) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-240  Findings and decision of arbitration 
panel.  The arbitration panel shall file with the 
board the original of all findings and decisions, 
which shall be binding upon the parties for a two-year 
period, unless amended during that period by written 
consent of the parties, with proof of service upon all 
parties.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) 
(Imp:  HRS §§89-11, 377-4.7)  
 



 

 
43-96 

 
 

§12-43-241  Payment for conciliation and 
arbitration.  The costs and expenses for services 
performed by neutrals under this subchapter, including 
the conciliator and the neutral arbitrator, shall be 
borne equally by the parties.  All other costs 
incurred by either party, including the costs of its 
selected member of the arbitration panel, shall be 
borne by the party incurring them.  [Eff                  
     ](Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS 
§377-4.7) 
 
 
 

§12-43-242  Closing of dispute in an initial 
collective bargaining agreement case.  (a)  Upon 
written notification to the board by the employer or 
exclusive representative of the execution of an 
initial collective bargaining agreement, where a 
request was made to the board for conciliation, or 
upon the board’s own knowledge and information, the 
board shall issue a “Notice of Intent to Dismiss Labor 
Dispute Case Because of Mootness” stating that the 
board will dismiss such labor dispute case because of 
mootness, unless it receives written notification from 
any party to the proceeding within ten days of the 
issuance of such notice, setting forth reasons why the 
case should not be dismissed.  
  (b)  Ten days after issuance of such notice, if 
no objections to dismissal are received, the board 
shall issue an order dismissing such case.  [Eff         
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS 
§377-4.7) 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 17 
 
 

PETITION FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER OR TEMPORARY 
INJUNCTION DURING UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICE PROCEEDING 



 

 
43-97 

 
 

 
 §12-43-250  Filing a complaint.  When a complaint 
is filed with the board pursuant to section 380-14(b) 
and (c), HRS, and after conducting the preliminary 
investigation provided for in this section, the board 
may petition any circuit court of the State within any 
circuit where the unfair labor practice is alleged to 
have occurred, or where the person or persons reside 
or transact business for appropriate temporary relief 
or restraining order.  Upon the filing of the 
complaint, the court shall serve notice upon the 
respondents.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§377-11) (Imp:  HRS §380-14) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-251  Preliminary investigation.  Whenever 
it is charged that a person has engaged in an unfair 
labor practice within the meaning of section 377-7(5), 
(6), (7), (8), and (9), HRS, the board shall conduct a 
preliminary investigation and the investigation shall 
be given priority over all other cases except cases of 
like character.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS 
§377-11) (Imp:  HRS §380-14) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-252  Procedure in conducting preliminary 
investigation.  The preliminary investigation shall be 
conducted by the board in the manner and at the places 
as shall be deemed suitable and appropriate under the 
circumstances with due regard for the purpose and 
intent of section 380-14(b) and (c), HRS.  The 
preliminary investigation may be conducted ex parte, 
and the board may proceed without the presence of all 
parties concerned.  The board shall give notice 
immediately to all parties concerned regarding the 
preliminary investigation, and shall afford reasonable 
opportunity to all parties concerned to present all 
relevant and material facts pertinent to the inquiry.  



 

 
43-98 

[Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  
HRS §380-14) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-253  Petition for injunctive relief.  If, 
after investigation, the board has reasonable cause to 
believe that the charges contained in the complaint 
are true, it shall petition any circuit court of the 
State within any circuit where the alleged unfair 
labor practice in question has occurred, or is alleged 
to have occurred, or wherein the person or persons 
reside or transact business, for appropriate relief 
pending final adjudication of the board with respect 
to the matter in accordance with and subject to the 
provisions of section 380-14(c), HRS.  [Eff           
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS 
§380-14) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-254  Hearing on complaint following 
injunctive relief.  Whenever temporary relief or a 
restraining order has been obtained by the board 
pursuant to section 380-14(b) and (c), HRS, the 
complaint which had been the basis for such temporary 
relief or restraining order shall be given priority by 
the board over all other cases except cases of like 
character.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §377-
11) (Imp:  HRS §380-14) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-255  Disposition of injunctive relief.  
Upon the hearing on the complaint giving rise to the 
temporary relief or restraining order pursuant to 
section 380-14(b) and (c), HRS, if the board dismisses 
the complaint, in whole or in part, the board shall 
promptly suggest to the circuit court which issued the 
temporary relief or restraining order the possible 
change in circumstances arising out of the findings 



 

 
43-99 

and conclusions of the board.  [Eff                 ]  
(Auth:  HRS §377-11) (Imp:  HRS §380-14) 

 
 

 
SUBCHAPTER 18 

 
 

PROCEDURE FOR ADOPTION, AMENDMENT, OR REPEAL OF RULES 
 
 
 
 §12-43-260  Scope.  This subchapter governs the 
general procedure relating to rulemaking by the board 
pursuant to sections 89-5, 91-3, 91-6, 377-11, and 
396-11.5, HRS.  [Eff                 ]  (Auth:  HRS  
§§89-5, 377-11) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 91-3, 377-11, 396-
11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-261  Petition.  (a)  Any employee, public 
employee, employee organization, employer, public 
employer, or interested person or organization may 
petition the board for adoption, amendment, or repeal 
of any rule of the board. 
 (b)  The petition need not be in any special form 
but it shall contain the following: 

(1)  The name, mailing address, and telephone 
number of each petitioner, and sufficient 
information to allow for electronic filing 
by, and electronic service upon, each 
petitioner; 

 (2)  The signature of each petitioner; 
 (3)  A statement of the nature of the 

petitioner’s interest; 
 (4)  The text of the proposed rule which is 

sought to be adopted, the text of the 
proposed amendment of the existing rule 
which is sought to be amended, or the 
designation or text of the rule which is 
sought to be repealed; 



 

 
43-100 

 (5)  A concise statement indicating with 
particularity the reasons for filing the 
petition, the necessity for the relief, and 
the anticipated effect or impact of the 
relief; and 

 (6)  Any other information pertinent to the  
  petition. 
 (c)  If a petitioner is not represented by 
counsel and is not a registered user of the board’s 
electronic filing system, such petitioner may file 
hard copies of documents with the board. 
 (d)  Any petition which does not conform to the 
requirements specified herein may be rejected and the 
petitioner shall be so informed.  [Eff               
                 ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-
11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 91-6, 377-11, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-262  Disposition.  The board shall, within 
the time frame set forth in section 91-6, HRS, either 
deny the petition in writing, stating its reasons for 
such denial, or initiate proceedings in accordance 
with section 91-3, HRS, and the procedures provided in 
this subchapter for the adoption, amendment, or repeal 
of rules.  [Eff 
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 396-
11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 91-3, 377-11, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-263  Public hearing.  (a)  The public 
hearing on the proposed adoption, amendment, or repeal 
of any rule shall be held at the time and place set 
forth in the notice of public hearing but that time 
and place may be continued from day to day or 
adjourned to a later day or to a different place 
without notice other than the announcement at the 
hearing.  The board shall afford all interested 
persons a reasonable opportunity to present data and 
their views or arguments, orally or in writing. 



 

 
43-101 

 (b)  The notice of public hearing shall be made 
in accordance with the provisions of chapters 91 and 
92, HRS.  The board may set reasonable time limits on 
testimony, and any such limits shall be stated in the 
notice of public hearing. 
 (c)  At the commencement of the hearing, the 
presiding officer shall read the notice of hearing, 
then briefly prescribe the procedures to be followed.  
The presiding officer shall have the authority to 
administer oaths or affirmations and to take all other 
actions necessary for the orderly conduct of the 
hearing.   
 (d)  Interested persons and agencies offering 
testimony are subject to questioning by the presiding 
officer or other person authorized by the board.  
Questioning by other persons or agencies shall not be 
permitted except when authorized by the presiding 
officer.  Unless ordered by the presiding officer, 
testimony given at the hearing shall not be reported 
verbatim. 
 (e)  Any person or agency unable to attend the 
public hearing who desires to submit written testimony 
shall submit the testimony to the board at its office 
by the date and time specified in the notice of public 
hearing.  [Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 
377-11, 396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 91-3, 377-11, 
396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-264  Decision.  The board may render its 
decision at the public hearing or at a later time.  
The board, upon request of any interested person or 
agency, shall issue a concise statement of the 
principal reasons for its decision.  In making its 
decision, the board shall consider all written and 
oral submissions respecting the proposed rule relief.  
[Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 
396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 91-3, 377-11, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 



 

 
43-102 

 §12-43-265  Board initiated rulemaking.  The 
board may at any time, on its own initiative, 
institute proceedings in accordance with section 91-3, 
HRS, and the procedures provided herein for the 
adoption, amendment, or repeal of rules.  [Eff           
                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 396-11.5) (Imp:  
HRS §§89-5, 91-3, 377-11, 396-11.5) 
 
 
 
 §12-43-266  Emergency rulemaking.  The board may 
adopt emergency rules pursuant to the requirements of 
sections 91-3 and 91-4, HRS.  The board’s 
determination that there is imminent peril and the 
reasons therefor shall be stated in, and made part of 
the emergency rule.  The board shall make the 
emergency rule known to the public by publishing the 
rule, at least once, in a newspaper of general 
circulation in the State, within five days from the 
date the rule is filed with the lieutenant governor.”  
[Eff                ]  (Auth:  HRS §§89-5, 377-11, 
396-11.5) (Imp:  HRS §§89-5, 91-3, 91-4, 377-11, 396-
11.5) 

 
 

3.  The repeal of chapters 12-41 and 12-42, and 
the adoption of chapter 12-43, Hawaii Administrative 
Rules, shall take effect ten days after filing with 
the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 

 
  
I certify that foregoing are copies of the rules, 

drafted in the Ramseyer format, pursuant to the 
requirements of section 91-4.1, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes, which were adopted on [date] and filed with 
the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 

 
 
    _____________________________ 
    Marcus R. Oshiro 
    Chair 
    Hawaii Labor Relations Board 



 

 
43-103 

 
     _____________________________ 

    Anne Perreira-Eustaquio 
     Director 
     Department of Labor and 

    Industrial Relations 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
    

_______________________ 
Deputy Attorney General 

     
     



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IV. Administrative Matters 
A. Update on the Status of the Board’s 

Proposed Phase II Website Project 
 

No attachments  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IV. Administrative Matters 
B. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy 

Activities and Programs in accordance with 
the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, 
HRS 

 

No Attachments 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

V. Legislative Matters 
A.  Discussion and Action on the Upcoming 

Governor’s Message Submitted for 
Consideration for the Gubernatorial 
Nomination of William Lydgate to the Small 
Business Regulatory Review Board to expire 
June 30, 2026 

 

No Attachments 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


	A.   Discussion and Action on Proposed   New HAR Title 12 Chapter 43, Rules of  Practice and Procedure Before the  Labor Relations Board, promulgated by  Hawaii Labor Relations Board, Department  of Labor and Industrial Relations
	A. Update on the Status of the Board’s Proposed Phase II Website Project
	B. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS
	A.  Discussion and Action on the Upcoming Governor’s Message Submitted for Consideration for the Gubernatorial Nomination of William Lydgate to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board to expire June 30, 2026
	ADPFCA3.tmp
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD
	I. Call to Order
	II. Approval of January 20, 2022 Meeting Minutes
	New Business – Before Public Hearing
	IV. Administrative Matters
	A. Update on the Status of the Board’s Proposed Phase II Website Project
	B. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS 

	V. Legislative Matters
	A. Discussion and Action on the Upcoming Governor’s Message Submitted for Consideration for the Gubernatorial Nomination of William Lydgate to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board to expire June 30, 2026

	VI. Next Meeting:  Thursday, March 10, 2022 at 10:00 a.m.
	VII. Adjournment

	DLIR 12-43 Rules of Practice and Procedure Before the Hawaii Labor Relations Board SBIS PPH.pdf
	If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, please provide a reasonable determination of the following:
	* * *

	ADPE5E2.tmp
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD
	I. Call to Order
	II. Approval of January 20, 2022 Meeting Minutes
	New Business – Before Public Hearing
	IV. Administrative Matters
	A. Update on the Status of the Board’s Proposed Phase II Website Project
	B. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS 

	V. Legislative Matters
	A. Discussion and Action on the Upcoming Governor’s Message Submitted for Consideration for the Gubernatorial Nomination of William Lydgate to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board to expire June 30, 2026

	VI. Next Meeting:  Thursday, March 10, 2022 at 10:00 a.m.
	VII. Adjournment


	Date: February 9, 2022
	Department or Agency: Labor & Industrial Relations/Hawaii Labor Relations Board
	Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: Chapter 43
	Chapter Name: Rules of Practice and Procedure Before the Hawaii Labor Relations Board
	Contact PersonTitle: Marcus R. Oshiro, Chairperson
	Email:  dlir.laborboard@hawaii.gov
	Phone: 808 586-8616
	pursuant to HRS 927: No
	If Yes provide details: 
	New: On
	Repeal: On
	Amendment: Off
	Compilation: Off
	II Will the proposed rules affect small business: Yes_2
	statute or ordinance: No_3
	IV Is the proposed rule being adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking HRS 201M2a: No_4
	Text 1: Under the current rules of practice and procedures before HLRB, all parties appearing before HLRB are required to comply with the provisions of HAR Chapters 41 and 42, including small businesses before the HLRB.  Please see Attachments "B" and "C".
	Text 2: Not Applicable (N/A).
	Text 2a: N/A
	Text 2b: N/A
	Text 3: N/A
	Text 2c: N/A
	Text 2d: N/A
	Text 4: N/A
	Text 5: N/A
	Text 6: N/A
	Text 7: See attached.
	Text 7a: HLRB only received comments from six public sector unions and one public sector employer.  No other stakeholders, public or private, submitted comments.  HLRB reviewed the comments received and sent response letters to each of these public sector stakeholders.  A facsimile of the response letter is attached.  Please see attachment "D".
	Text 8: N/A
	Text 8b: N/A
	Text 8a: N/A
	Text 8c: N/A
	Text 8d: N/A
	Text 8e: N/A


